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Statement of compliance for the year ended 30 June 2014

HON. JOE FRANCIS MLA 
MINISTER FOR SMALL BUSINESS
In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your information 
and presentation to Parliament, the annual report of the Small Business Development Corporation for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2014.

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Financial Management Act 2006.

Ray Mountney
Chairman

WA’s first Small Business Minister Mal Bryce, left, SBDC Board Member 
Kitty Prodonovich and SBDC Chairman Ray Mountney celebrate the 30th 

anniversary of the Small Business Development Corporation.
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Overview of agency
About the SBDC
The Small Business Development Corporation (SBDC) is an independent statutory authority, established in 
1984 under the Small Business Development Corporation Act 1983.

What we do
The primary role of the SBDC is to encourage, promote, facilitate and assist the establishment, growth and 
development of small business in Western Australia.

This is achieved by providing advice and guidance, as well as education and skill development programs, to 
small business owners.

The SBDC works directly with small business operators and liaises with industry and business associations to 
exchange information and provide support and assistance to their members.

The SBDC also provides advice and support to the Minister for Small Business on matters impacting the sector, 
including the effect of government policy and legislation on small business.

Through these avenues, the SBDC helps to raise public awareness of the importance of small business to the 
economy and community.

In addition, the SBDC investigates any matters impacting small businesses and advises small business on ways 
to obtain assistance.

The SBDC also maintains an information centre with a comprehensive range of business resources and delivers 
workshops for existing and potential small business operators.

More recently, the SBDC has provided an Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) service in relation to small 
business disputes.

Responsible Minister
As at 30 June 2014, the Hon. Joe Francis MLA, 
Minister for Small Business, has responsibility for the 
Small Business Development Corporation.

Enabling legislation
The Small Business Development Corporation Act 1983 
(SBDC Act) makes provision for the establishment of 
the Small Business Development Corporation and 
Small Business Commissioner.

Our vision
A strong and enterprising small business sector in 
Western Australia.

Our mission
To deliver and facilitate relevant, practical support to 
small businesses and to foster the development of 
policy conducive to the growth of a thriving sector.

Minister for Small Business Joe Francis
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Overview of agency

Our values
Enterprise – valuing a culture of enterprise and 
innovation within the community.

Focus – acting with courage, discipline and clarity of 
purpose.

Independence – acting in the best interests of the 
small business sector.

Fairness – valuing an environment where small 
business can thrive.

Collaboration – actively engaging with others to 
achieve our mutual objectives.

Our strategic objectives
In accordance with its 2013-2017 Strategic Plan, the 
SBDC strives to:
• offer continually improving practical and relevant 

services across Western Australia;
• model contemporary service delivery;
• build strong engagement with, and commitment 

from, all key stakeholder groups;
• advocate for a fair, conducive and productive 

environment for small business;
• develop the SBDC’s organisational capacity; and
• ensure the best return on Government funds 

invested in the development of the sector.

What is a small business?
The SBDC Act defines a ‘small business’ as a business 
undertaking which is wholly owned and operated 
by an individual person, persons in partnership, or 
by a proprietary company within the meaning of the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and which:
(i) has a relatively small share of the market in which 

it competes;
(ii) is managed personally by the owner or owners or 

directors, as the case requires; and
(iii) is not a subsidiary of, or does not form part of, a 

larger business or enterprise.

In effect, the SBDC uses the standard Australian 
Bureau of Statistics (ABS) definition of small business, 
which is any non-employing business or a business 
employing fewer than 20 staff.

Small business statistics
There are 208,926 actively trading small businesses in 
Western Australia (as at June 2013), which represents 
96.7 per cent of all businesses in the State.

The proportion of Western Australian businesses in 
each size category is illustrated in the adjacent chart.

The industries with the largest number of small 
businesses in WA (in descending order) are:
• Construction (37,518 or 18%);
• Professional, scientific and technical services 

(24,151 or 11.6%);
• Rental, hiring and real estate services (21,921 

or 10.5%);
• Agriculture, forestry and fishing (17,905 or 8.6%); 

and
• Financial and insurance services (17,724 or 8.5%).
(ABS Cat. No. 8165.0 – Counts of Australian Businesses, including Entries and Exits, June 
2009 to June 2013)

Note: Medium-sized businesses are defined as those with 20-199 staff members and 
large businesses are defined as those with more than 200 staff members.

3.1% Medium

9.8% Small (5-19 staff)

24.7% Micro (1-4 staff) 

62.3% Non employing

0.2% Large
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Overview of agency

SBDC: 2013-14 at a glance

Almost
55,000

clients assisted

2,775
small business 

opinions gathered 
from business 

owners to assist the 
development of 

initiatives

93%
of clients said 

information and 
advice provided was 

of value to their 
business

51
organisations 

partnered with 
Industry Link for 

programs

6,488
clients used the 
online Business 
Licence Finder

368
clients received 
intensive case 

management through 
the Alternative 

Dispute Resolution 
(ADR) service

$259.5
million

invested by business 
migrants moving 

to WA
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Executive summary
Chairman’s report

Since joining the SBDC 
Board in August 2009 and 
being appointed Chairman 
in 2010, I have been 
impressed by the high-level 
strategic work undertaken 
by the organisation, and 
the very worthwhile 
initiatives that have been 
implemented to benefit 
WA’s small business sector.

In 2014, the SBDC achieved a major milestone by 
celebrating its 30th anniversary. It is pleasing to note 
that the organisation is the longest-running small 
business-focused government agency in Australia 
– a clear indication that it is continuing to meet the 
evolving needs of the small business sector.

Given the 30-year achievement, I feel it is appropriate 
to thank the SBDC management and staff, past 
and present, for their valuable contribution 
and cooperation over the past three decades, 
consistently delivered in a collaborative and 
professional manner.

Small business is a vital component within our 
business community and while some may credit the 
mining and resource sector as the sole source of WA’s 
fiscal success, it’s important to remember the myriad 
of small businesses that assist and support these 
industries in their endeavours throughout the State. 

It is also interesting to note that 91 per cent of 
all mining enterprises in WA are regarded as 
small businesses.

During the year in review, the SBDC has continued 
to deliver a range of innovative programs and 
initiatives to support the small business sector. These 
have included, amongst others, the Small Business 
Centre program, WA Regional Small Business Awards, 
Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) service, Industry 
Link, Aboriginal Business Directory WA and various 
partnerships with other organisations.

Through these programs and services, the needs of 
small business are met, and relationships between 
the SBDC and key agencies in the public and private 
sectors are established and developed.

As a relatively small agency, the SBDC punches well 
above its weight when it comes to program delivery 
and effective outcomes. As this annual report 
demonstrates, the SBDC is responding to the ever-
changing needs of the small business environment, 
ably representing the Government and sector at 
national forums, and providing much-needed 
support and encouragement at the grassroots level.

With the new financial year upon us, the SBDC is 
continuing to build on its achievements of the past 
30 years by meeting the needs of the small business 
sector in the same highly effective and professional 
manner.

The Board and SBDC staff will continue to work with 
individual business owners and industry associations 
to ensure their contribution to WA’s economic and 
social wealth is maintained.

I would also like to take this opportunity to thank all 
Board members for their valuable contributions over 
the past financial year and to welcome our newly 
appointed members, Susan Bailey and Anthony 
Masi. The extensive business experience they bring 
to their roles is a real asset to the operations of the 
Board and SBDC.

Ray Mountney
Chairman
SBDC Board
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Operational structure

SBDC Board
The Small Business Development Corporation is 
governed by an independent Board, drawn from 
the private sector under the auspices of the Small 
Business Development Corporation Act 1983.

Membership as at 30 June 2014:
• Ray Mountney (Chairman)
• Susan Bailey
• Steven Dobson
• Jeff Healy
• Anthony Masi
• Sonia McKeiver
• Caterina (Kitty) Prodonovich
• David Eaton (ex officio)

(For Board members’ biographies please see 
page 38)

Small Business Commissioner
David Eaton is the Small Business Commissioner for 
Western Australia and Chief Executive Officer of the 
SBDC. This dual role is responsible for the day-to-
day operation of the SBDC and the provision of the 
Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) service, and 
reports to the Board.

The key services of the SBDC are:
• small business advisory;
• commercial tenancy advisory;
• dispute resolution;
• business migration;
• policy, advocacy and advice to government; and
• the Small Business Centre program.

Small business advisory services
The SBDC’s core service is the delivery of advice 
and guidance to small business operators to aid the 
development and growth of the sector in WA. 
These services are provided online, by phone and 
email and face-to-face meetings. They are also 
delivered through third parties, business associations 
and the media.

Tailored business skills workshops are delivered 
across a range of subjects. Plus the business 
information centre provides a walk-in service for 
clients seeking information on business licensing and 
regulatory requirements. (See page 16 for details of 
2013-14 achievements.)

Commercial tenancy advisory service
The SBDC provides free information and guidance 
on the Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements 
Act 1985, and other aspects of commercial lease 
negotiations and operation, with specialist 
commercial tenancy advisers assisting in person or 
by phone.

The advice is supported by free publications 
providing detailed information which are available 
from the business information centre or to download 
from the SBDC website.

Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) service
The ADR service, established in March 2012, is a 
low-cost, non-litigious means of resolving business-
to-business and business-to-government disputes 
involving small businesses. The service is particularly 
useful in resolving retail tenancy disputes. The SBDC 
has become the first port of call for businesses 
experiencing disputes of this kind. (See page 21 for 
details of 2013-14 achievements.)

Business migration services
The SBDC delivers the Western Australian Business 
Migration program as a key investment attraction 
initiative for the State. Business migrants are 
a significant source of new capital, business 
establishment, export income and employment 
generation. (See page 25 for details of 2013-14 
achievements.)

Policy, advocacy and advice to government
The SBDC ensures the small business voice is heard 
and considered by governments at all levels through 
submissions and liaison, and is a key influence 
in policy development when it relates to small 
business. The SBDC conducts regular surveys to 
gauge the sentiment of the sector and to inform 
government of trends and concerns. (See page 30 
for details of 2013-14 achievements.)
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Small Business Centre (SBC) program
In 2013-14, there were 25 not-for-profit community-
based Small Business Centres located around the 
State, with 19 in regional areas. These centres provide 
business advisory services to small businesses on 
behalf of the SBDC and are partially funded by the 
Government through the Corporation. 
(See page 26 for details of 2013-14 achievements.)

 Small Business 
Development Corporation

Board of Management

 Small Business Commissioner/ 
Chief Executive Officer

 Policy and Advocacy

Policy evaluation and 
development
Advocacy
Red tape reduction
Research and statistics
Business and government 
liaison

Communications 
and Marketing

Marketing and promotion
Media
Stakeholder liaison
Events

 Small Business Services

Advisory services
Alternative dispute 
resolution
Business information 
centre
Business migration
Small Business Centre 
program
Aboriginal business

 Corporate Resources

Financial resources
Human resources
Information resources
Online resources
Administrative support

Organisational structure

Rachel Whiting, Small Business Centre West Pilbara – one of the 25 Small 
Business Centres located across WA.
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Executive summary

Performance management framework

Outcome-based management framework
Government goal: financial and economic responsibility – responsibly managing the State’s finances through 
the efficient and effective delivery of services, encouraging economic activity and reducing regulatory 
burdens on the private sector.

Desired outcome Effectiveness 
indicators

Service Efficiency indicators

Development of 
new and existing 
small business 
in WA.

The extent to which 
clients rate the 
usefulness of the 
information and 
guidance provided 
to them.

Information, 
guidance, referral 
and business 
development 
services.

• Average cost per direct client contact.

• Average cost per indirect client contact.

• Average cost per Small Business Centre 
client contact.

• Cost per unit of policy advice.

Changes to outcome-based management framework
The SBDC’s outcome-based management framework did not change during the reporting period.

Shared responsibility with other agencies
The SBDC did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 2013-14.

Small Business Commissioner David Eaton visiting 
Kepa Kurl in Esperance, run by Doc Reynolds, left.
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Agency performance
Financial targets

2013-14 (1) 

Target
$’000

2013-14 
Actual
$’000

Variation (2)

$’000 Explanation

Total cost of services (expense limit)
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive 
Income)

12,930 13,878 948 The increased expenditure relates to the use of existing cash 
balances to fund priority programs during the reporting period.

Net cost of services
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive 
Income)

12,633 13,503 870 Offset against the variance noted above is higher than 
expected interest and other miscellaneous revenue.

Total equity
(sourced from Statement of Financial Position)

1,931 390 1,541 The reduction in total equity for the year reflects the significant 
increase in total cost of services noted above.

Net decrease in cash held
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows)

(148) (1,684) (1,536) The reduction in cash held at year end is the result of the 
significant increase in total cost of services noted above.

Approved full-time equivalent (FTE) staff level 55 55 0

(1) As specified in the 2013-14 Budget Statements (Budget Paper No 2 Volume 2) Pages 496-502.

(2) Further explanations are also contained in Note 35 “Explanatory Statement” to the financial statements.
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The SBDC undertakes client surveys to measure its 
performance through key effectiveness indicators, 
which are:
• usefulness of information and guidance provided;
• contribution the service made to an informed 

decision to start or buy a business;
• the extent the information or guidance benefited 

the operations of the business; and
• the value of the guidance or information 

received.

For 2013-14, most of the survey-based effectiveness 
indicators exceeded or met the targets set. Even in 
cases where there was a slight decrease, they have 
remained more or less consistent in comparison with 
the previous period.

Very high levels of satisfaction continue to 
be achieved.
• 93 per cent of survey participants rated the 

information/guidance provided as very or 
somewhat useful.

• 82 per cent believed the SBDC/SBCs have directly 
contributed to their decision to start or buy 
a business.

• 82 per cent of business owners said the 
information or advice had benefited the 
operations of their business to a great, or to 
some, extent.

• 80 per cent of those surveyed said they valued 
the information or guidance received.

When I started my commercial cleaning 
business some time ago, I had a number 
of decisions to make in order to grow the 
business, and one of the best decisions 
I made was to seek advice from the 
wonderful staff at the SBDC.

They have always provided me with advice 
and assistance far beyond what I would 
generally expect. I cannot speak highly 
enough of the tremendous support they 
have provided.

Con Rizidis
CCM CLEANING SERVICES

“

”

The SBDC achieved a Customer Service Index 
rating of 92 per cent, the same result as for the two 
previous financial years. The index was introduced 
to measure the extent to which the SBDC and SBC 
network satisfies customer enquiries and requests 
for assistance. It is comprised of five individual 
performance indicators focusing on the process and 
outcomes of providing services to clients.

Other key effectiveness indicators are the outcomes 
from the Business Migration program. The program 
attracts business migrants to WA to boost the State’s 
economic growth and development. In 2013-14, the 
SBDC granted State nomination for 319 business 
migrants from the prime markets of China, Malaysia, 
Singapore and South Africa, along with 12 other 
countries.

In 2013-14, the State economy benefited from the 
investment of nearly $260 million for business 
establishment, Treasury bond investment, 
personal expenditure and settlement costs. In 
addition, 256 jobs were created and 16 businesses 
started exporting.

Full details of key performance indicators are 
provided on page 48.

Summary of Key Performance Indicators
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Chief Executive Officer’s report
WA’s small business 
sector comprises almost 
209,000 small businesses, 
representing nearly 97 per 
cent of all businesses across 
the State. Throughout the 
year, the SBDC delivered 
services and support as 
diverse as the sector it 
serves.

From basic business 
information and advice, through to complex 
dispute resolution and mediation, specialist support 
programs, regulatory reviews and advocacy into 
government, they all form one common thread 
that binds the SBDC team. They have also led to a 
culture of providing a consistently high standard of 
assistance and support to small businesses around 
the State.

In 2013-14, the SBDC assisted 54,919 clients: 15,414 
clients directly and 39,505 through the network of 25 
Small Business Centres.

As you will see in the details of this annual report, 
our client satisfaction results (described by key 
effectiveness indicators) are outstanding, and a real 
credit to the team. However, just like an adaptive and 
responsive small business, we will continue to review 
our service offerings and channels to ensure we 
remain relevant, efficient and effective in meeting 
the evolving needs of our clients.

During 2014, the SBDC celebrated its 30th 
anniversary. This important milestone included 
sharing the agency’s many achievements since 
its launch in 1984 with our key stakeholders and 
supporters. A great deal has changed over the 
past 30 years; WA’s population has almost doubled 
and its number of small businesses has more than 
quadrupled.

Looking back over the SBDC’s history it is clear that, 
while many of the challenges facing small businesses 
have changed over time, most of the basic needs of 
their operators have remained the same – attracting 
and retaining quality employees, maintaining 
strong cash flow, evolving their products, services 
and business model to meet the ever-changing 
market and providing good customer service. Our 
organisation has built a strong reputation over 
the past three decades for delivering valuable 
services and information to the sector. It has helped 
thousands of budding entrepreneurs turn their 
dreams into sound small businesses, some growing 
into significant employers, all playing an important 
role in building the WA economy.

Throughout the SBDC’s 30 years of service, our 
team of small business advisers has assisted small 
business operators in all aspects of starting and 
growing their businesses. From general information 
and support through to more specialised advice 
on commercial tenancies, franchising, taxation and 
dispute resolution.

Our Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) service is 
available to small business operators throughout 
the State. The service is an inexpensive way to 
resolve business-to-business and business-to-
government disputes including those between 
tenants and landlords of commercial premises; 
getting businesses back to business sooner and with 
relationships intact. Over the past year, this service 
has continued to achieve impressive results – as you 
will find detailed in this report.

Throughout the world, small businesses are a vital 
component of dynamic and successful economies. 
The SBDC is committed to providing support to 
local businesses across WA, recognising it is the 
enterprising spirit of this sector that continues to 
drive our State forward.

As well as providing support to individual business 
operators through our information, advisory and 
dispute resolution services, it is pleasing to see the 
influence we are having with all tiers of government 
in the important areas of policy and program 
development, as well as regulatory reform.

The SBDC is being consulted and referenced in a 
large number of reviews at both State and Federal 
Government levels. This also demonstrates the 
increasing acknowledgement of the small business 
sector’s importance to our economy.
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Governments around the world are recognising that 
robust economies have diverse and healthy small 
and medium enterprises at their core. I am pleased 
to note that this topic has been included on the 
agenda of the G20 meeting to be held in Australia 
in November 2014.

In closing, I would like to acknowledge the many 
women and men who choose to start and grow 
their own business. Some enterprises will remain 
small, while others will grow to become large 
organisations that may expand beyond our shores.

It is a noble pursuit that takes courage and grit. 
Noble because these entrepreneurs are providing 
meaningful employment for many, plus they 
are making a significant economic and social 
contribution to the overall good of our State.

David Eaton
Small Business Commissioner
Chief Executive Officer
Small Business Development Corporation

Small Business Commissioner David Eaton, right, with 
Small Business Centre – South East Metro Chairman 

David Duncanson and Manager Kim Charles.
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Activity reports
Services to small business
Providing free, confidential and independent 
business-related information, advice and guidance 
to the West Australian small business sector at all 
stages of the business life-cycle and in relation to 
the specialist areas of commercial tenancy, dispute 
resolution and business migration.

Since it was established in 1984, the SBDC’s core 
service has been providing free information, advice 
and guidance to West Australian small business 
operators. In 2012, this service was broadened to 
include an Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) 
service for businesses in dispute with another 
business or government agency, further enhancing 
the SBDC’s scope to assist businesses in their 
development.

In 2013-14, the SBDC responded to client enquiries 
via a number of channels including telephone, 
email and face-to-face meetings. The agency also 
facilitated discussions between disputing parties and 
delivered a range of workshops.

The vast majority of businesses (60 per cent) seeking 
information and advisory support were actively 
involved in operating an established business while 
most of the remaining enquiries came from pre-start 
or new businesses owners.

Throughout this period, the SBDC also supported 
25 Small Business Centres across the State in the 
provision of business advisory services to small 
business operators.

In conjunction with the centres, the SBDC met the 
needs of clients across all stages of the business 
life-cycle from pre-start, development and growth, 
through to succession planning and exit strategies.

Several of the SBDC’s small business advisers also 
shared their skills and knowledge by taking part in 
State judging panels for high profile small business 
award programs including those run by WA Tourism, 
Telstra, the Fremantle Chamber of Commerce and 
the City of Belmont.

Outcomes for 2013-14
The SBDC directly assisted 15,414 clients:

Overall, clients sought assistance in relation to 19,898 
small business topics.

In addition, a further 39,505 client sessions were 
undertaken through the 25 Small Business Centres. 
The majority of these (69 per cent) were short 
sessions. Of the remaining 31 per cent, 18.5 per cent 
were with clients who already had a business and 
12.5 per cent were with clients starting a business.

The annual survey of key performance indicators of 
SBDC and SBC clients showed that satisfaction levels 
remained high.

Business 
advice
76%

Industry Link 9%

Workshops
15%

Telephone
67%

Face-to-face 18%

Email
15%

How we engaged with clients

Methods of engaging with clients

CONTENTS OVERVIEW  
OF AGENCY

EXECUTIVE  
SUMMARY

DISCLOSURES  
AND LEGAL 

COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT 
ISSUES IMPACTING 

THE AGENCY
APPENDIX

sbdc AR 2014.PRINT.V5.indd   16 15/09/2014   11:21 am



Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2013-1417

AGENCY 
PERFORMANCE

Agency performance

Business information centre
The business information centre (BIC) is the entry 
point for small business services provided by the 
SBDC. The BIC provides business and licensing 
information and online resources to streamline the 
business start-up process, and it assists with the 
growth of established businesses.

Information available at the BIC includes a range of 
free business information guides and checklists on 
starting, developing and managing a small business. 
It also coordinates the SBDC’s range of business skills 
workshops.

Online services include access to the Business 
Licence Finder and the IBISWorld database. This 
database provides free access to financial 
benchmarking and market research reports on 
more than 500 industries across Australia.

Outcomes for 2013-14
The BIC is the public face of the SBDC, welcoming 
workshop participants, clients attending advisory 
appointments and members of the public seeking 
business-related information and resources.

During the year a review of the BIC services resulted 
in a number of recommendations, some of which 
have already been implemented.

This included a decision, effective from April 2014, to 
cease selling external publications. This was made in 
response to the growing number of book retailers, 
particularly those online, providing a greater range 
of titles.

Prior to the cessation of the bookshop, 455 
publications had been sold during the year, to the 
value of $14,575.

As of May 2014, SBDC leasing publications also 
became available to download free of charge from 
the agency’s website so that the reach of these 
publications was extended to as many clients 
as possible.

Business Licence Finder
During the year, 6,488 clients sought licensing and 
regulatory information using the online Business 
Licence Finder.

The most searched for licences and regulations were:
• Business Names (4,638)
• GST registration (4,458)
• Australian eMarketing Code of Practice (3,830)

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Information and advice was useful – 93%

Information and advice was of value 
to their business – 81%

Information was of benefit to their 
business operations – 86%

Satisfied with overall SBDC experience – 93%

Likely to use service again – 93%

The business information centre provides a range of free business resources.

Key performance indicators of client satisfaction
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Workshops
The SBDC delivered 103 workshops to 2,322 
participants and generated $35,945 in fee income.

A decision was made to split the existing Succeeding 
Online workshop into separate sessions, one 
focusing on websites and the other on online 
marketing. This was based on extensive feedback 
from clients who were seeking more details on this 
important topic. The move also reflected a growing 
interest in the online environment and a need for all 
small businesses to embrace the many opportunities 
it offers, as well as understanding the pitfalls when 
attempting to navigate and create an online presence.

The final Succeeding Online workshop was delivered 
in April 2014 and the first of the two new workshops, 
Website Basics, was launched in May 2014. The 
second, Online Marketing – doing it yourself, will be 
launched in July 2014.

Industry Link
During 2013-14, the SBDC extended its services to 
reach more small business operators through its 
Industry Link program. The program, conducted in 
conjunction with business and government partners, 
provides industry-specific information on starting 
and growing a business.

Industry Link is aimed at enhancing the business 
acumen of a wide range of small business operators, 
to assist in the creation of a more resilient and robust 
small business sector.

The program provides business management skills 
through a range of workshops that can be tailored 
to a specific industry. The workshops are delivered 
free of charge (although there may be a small fee 
for support materials) and designed to strengthen 
industries by up-skilling business owners and 
encouraging better operating practices.

Since its launch, Industry Link has successfully 
assisted a diverse range of industry groups including 
real estate agents, nurse practitioners, master 
builders, dog groomers, boating industry members, 
furniture manufacturers and occupational therapists.

Outcomes for 2013-14
The SBDC partnered with 51 organisations to deliver 
89 workshops and events to 1,452 participants.

Program partners included a diverse range of 
industry organisations; Local, State and Federal 
Government organisations; and educational 
institutions. Feedback received has been consistently 
positive.

Business advisory service
Initial enquiries relating to general business 
information and advice are handled by the business 
information centre , with more specialist or complex 
enquiries referred to the agency’s small business 
advisory team. The SBDC provides free, confidential 
and independent information and advice across a 
broad range of critical areas for business.

I would highly recommend them [SBDC 
workshops] to anyone interested in starting 
or developing a small business.

The resources are excellent, concise and easy 
to follow. The workshops themselves are 
well-run, logical and interesting.

A few weeks ago I was a new mum on 
maternity leave – now I have the basic 
knowledge and confidence to start the small 
business I have always dreamed of.

Katy Flyger
PHYSIOTHERAPIST

“

”
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Challenges and opportunities arise and change as 
a business develops and grows. The SBDC meets 
this need by providing guidance to businesses at all 
stages of their business life-cycle from start-up to 
established businesses.

Advisory appointments are held at the SBDC’s office 
in the Perth CBD or on-site at clients’ premises.

Outcomes for 2013-14
Enquiries mainly related to the following 
industry areas:
• Retail trade;
• Accommodation and food services;
• Rental, hiring and real estate services;
• Professional, scientific and technical services 

(which includes legal, accounting and other 
professional services); and

• Construction.

The main topics clients sought information 
about were:
• starting a business;
• licensing and regulations;
• business planning and research;
• financial management and taxation; and
• marketing and intellectual property.

Dispute advice
The SBDC also responded to 2,351 dispute-related 
enquiries: 2,304 were in relation to business-to-
business disputes, while a further 38 concerned 
disputes between business and government. 
Most of the enquiries were handled by small 
business advisers, with more complex enquiries 
referred to the specialist ADR team for ongoing 
intensive case management.

Business-to-business dispute enquiries are divided 
into two main categories – leasing (commercial 
tenancy) and non-leasing.

”

Non-leasing
82%

Leasing (commerical 
tenancy) 18%Clients already 

in business 60%

Others 10%

Clients 
preparing to 
start a business 30%

Type of dispute enquiries receivedBreakdown of clients making enquiries

An SBDC adviser giving dispute-related assistance.
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Commercial tenancy advice
A key issue of operating many small businesses 
relates to the business premises lease. It is essential 
that a business premises lease is conducive to 
achieving successful business outcomes. There are 
many factors to consider before entering into a lease 
in order to ensure appropriate terms are negotiated. 
The SBDC provides a specialist commercial 
tenancy advisory service for small business tenants, 
landlords and other industry stakeholders. The 
service provides information and guidance on the 
Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements Act 
1985 (CT Act) and all aspects of negotiating and 
leasing business premises.

During the period of a lease, misunderstandings 
and disputes can arise between the landlord and 
the tenant. In such circumstances, the specialist 
commercial tenancy advisory service refers clients to 
the SBDC’s ADR service to facilitate the resolution of 
disputes in a timely and cost-effective manner.

Outcomes for 2013-14
Commercial tenancy advisers dealt with 2,488 
enquiries in 2013-14. A breakdown is provided in the 
chart, above right.

Of these enquiries, 17 per cent related specifically 
to a dispute between a landlord and tenant, a 
quarter of which were subsequently referred to the 
SBDC’s ADR service for intensive case management. 
A breakdown of these dispute-related enquiries is 
provided in the chart, right.

Leasing business premises – a commercial and practical guide was one of two 
leasing publications updated during 2013-14.

New tenant 
advice 12%

Other
61%

Rent and rate 
reviews 10%

Operating 
expenses 9%

Repair and 
maintenance 
issues 8%

Termination
11%

Other
43%

Rent and rate 
reviews 14%

Operating 
expenses 15%

Repair and 
maintenance 
issues 17%

Main topic of enquiry

Breakdown of dispute-related enquiries
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Through its exposure to advising landlords, tenants 
and other stakeholders over the years, the SBDC was 
well-placed to provide feedback to the administrator 
of the legislation, the Department of Commerce in 
relation to amendments to the CT Act. As a result of 
this feedback, the Minister for Commerce was alerted 
to the effect of marketplace changes to determine 
whether any issues needed to be addressed.

The most recent changes to the CT Act have mainly 
been operating well since they came into effect 
on 1 January 2014. The issues raised by the SBDC in 
relation to the impact of CT Act changes on small 
business operators included short-term leases, 
disclosure statements and the issues about what 
constitutes the lettable area of a premises. The 
SBDC will continue to monitor the market place to 
ascertain whether action is warranted to address the 
practices affecting small business.

One of the Small Business Commissioner’s functions 
under the CT Act is to provide information and 
guidance on the provisions of the Act. In line with 
this, the Commissioner spoke at a seminar held by 
the Property Council of Australia about ways of 
reducing landlord-tenant conflict and the SBDC’s role 
in assisting landlords, tenants and other stakeholders 
to resolve tenancy disputes. The Commissioner 
also met with property consultant representatives 
and discussed issues relating to the obligations of 
landlords and tenants under lease arrangements.

The SBDC reviewed and updated its two general 
leasing publications How to negotiate your way to a 
better retail lease and Leasing business premises – a 
commercial and practical guide. These guides contain 
important and useful information to be considered 
before entering into a lease for business premises, 
particularly for small business operators leasing for 
the first time. The publications are part of the suite 
of leasing information the SBDC provides for tenants 
and landlords.

Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) service
The 2013-14 financial year marked the second full 
year of operation of the SBDC’s Alternative Dispute 
Resolution (ADR) service. The service began with 
the introduction of the Small Business and Retail Shop 
Legislation Amendment Act 2011 and the passing of 
consequential amendments to the Commercial Tenancy 
(Retail Shops) Agreements Act 1985 in March 2012.

ADR is a voluntary process where disputing parties 
attempt to resolve their issue with the assistance of 
an impartial third party. SBDC case managers provide 
assistance to all parties, helping them to understand 
their rights and responsibilities, clarify issues and 
explore options to resolve the dispute.

The ADR service gives small businesses an 
opportunity to resolve disputes without the need 
to engage in a formal legal process. To this end, 
the ADR service offers a timely and cost-effective 
approach to business operators engaged in a dispute 
with another business or a government agency. 

It provides parties with greater control over the 
resolution process and any outcome or agreement 
generated. ADR can also have a positive effect on 
maintaining ongoing business relationships.

Since the introduction of the ADR service, retail 
tenancy-related disputes that would previously have 
gone to the State Administrative Tribunal (SAT) for 
a determination must now come to the SBDC for 
attempted resolution through ADR. In the absence 
of a successful outcome through this process, parties 
may request a certificate from the Small Business 
Commissioner in order to seek a determination from 
the SAT about their dispute.

As part of the introduction of the ADR service, the 
SBDC brought together a pool of independent, 
professional mediators. Where parties are willing 
to take a matter to mediation, the SBDC facilitates 
the process. The mediation service is subsidised by 
the State Government with participating parties 
contributing a small fee.

Outcomes for 2013-14
This year a total of 368 cases were referred to the 
ADR team for intensive case management. Case 
managers finalised 372 cases (including four from 
the previous financial year), which had a value in 
dispute of nearly $16.2 million (based on client 
estimation). The balance of cases remains active and 
will be finalised during the next financial year.
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Case study – business released 
from vehicle supply contract
A new business operating a specialised 
shuttle service for the mining industry 
approached the ADR service concerning the 
delayed supply of vehicles purchased from 
a motor vehicle dealer. The business was 
unable to commence the service or enter 
into another contract until the contract 
was finalised. As a result of negotiation 
between the parties, the vehicle dealer 
agreed to release the business from the 
$180,000 contract, allowing the business 
to start operating.

Case study – horse float safety 
issue rectified
A horse float retailer became aware that 
safety standards had not been met by the 
supplier when the floats were examined by 
the Department of Transport. She had also 
received customer complaints about the 
floats. The customers were aware of likely 
insurance obligations and the horse floats 
were unable to be used until the issues 
were rectified. To further complicate the 
dispute, the supplying company became 
de-registered. After liaising with the parties, 
the SBDC finalised the case, with the supplier 
agreeing to reimburse the retailer for half 
the cost of rectification to meet the required 
safety standards.

Of the 372 cases finalised, 128 related to 
commercial tenancy issues. In around 80 per 
cent of these cases, the disputes were finalised 
directly with the assistance by an ADR case 
manager, therefore removing the need for 
parties to seek a determination through the 
SAT or another decision-making body. For the 
remaining (non-leasing) disputes, ADR support 
was primarily provided to parties in conflict over 
contractual obligations, non-payment issues and 
the non-performance or non-supply of business-
related goods or services.

Where a successful outcome is reached through 
mediation, the parties draft a mutual agreement, 
with the assistance of the mediator. A total of 
32 mediations were held during the year, with 
a successful resolution reached in 24 of them, 
resulting in costly litigation being avoided in 75 
per cent of cases that went to mediation. The 
value of disputes successfully resolved through 
the SBDC mediation process in 2013-14 was 
nearly $1.4 million.
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Alternative dispute resolution service – 
business-to-government disputes
As part of the SBDC’s Alternative Dispute Resolution 
(ADR) service, it is also responsible for investigating 
business-to-government enquiries and disputes. 
The service assists businesses experiencing difficulty 
dealing with Local, State or Federal Government 
agencies through:
• clarification of government policies and 

procedures;
• investigation of the rationale behind government 

decisions impacting on small businesses;
• communicating small business concerns to 

government;
• researching licensing and other red tape issues; 

and
• negotiating with government authorities to 

determine alternative solutions that are consistent 
with legislative and policy requirements and 
mutually beneficial to both parties.

The SBDC also uses these business-to-government 
enquiries and disputes to identify broader issues 
and trends which help inform the agency’s policy 
development and advocacy activities.

Outcomes for 2013-14
The SBDC investigated 38 business-to-government 
enquiries and disputes. More than half of these 
related to the local government sector, with 
planning approvals, licensing and tenancy issues 
being the most commonly reported disputes. In 
relation to State Government enquiries, which 
accounted for a third of all business-to-government 
cases, occupational/business licensing and tendering 
issues were most frequently raised. In these cases, 
the SBDC advocated to the relevant government 
authority on behalf of the small business operator 
to clarify or attempt to resolve the matter for 
both parties.

Of particular note was the issuing of the first State 
Administrative Tribunal certificate for a business-to-
government dispute. This was issued after a failure 
by parties (which included a local government 
authority) to agree to a date for mediation in relation 
to a small business tenancy dispute.

The Small Business Development 
Corporation assisted Solavision Australia in 
looking into the processes undertaken by 
Synergy and Western Power which inhibited 
our clients and our business cash flow.

The meeting organised by the SBDC gave 
us the upper hand in asking questions and 
obtaining responses that we couldn’t have 
achieved on our own. We thank you for 
taking the time to look into our issues and 
assisting our business.

Alistair Henrisson
SOLAVISION AUSTRALIA PTY LTD

“

”
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Ignition program

The SBDC again supported the innovative 
Ignition program, run by the Curtin Centre for 
Entrepreneurship (C4E) at the Curtin University 
Business School.

Ignition provides a five-day entrepreneurial learning 
program that helps participants take their innovative 
ideas through a disciplined, intensive process to:
• validate their business concepts;
• help them form the basis of a business plan and 

commence building a funding proposition;
• receive expert advice; and
• access peer networking, training and mentoring.

The SBDC has been acknowledged as a founding 
program partner, having provided financial support 
to establish and retain the program since its 
inception in 2011.

Outcomes for 2013-14
The $35,500 grant from the SBDC this year ensured 
the continuation of this program to provide access 
to world standard education and support for local 
business innovators and inventors.

For the first time, the SBDC offered six scholarships 
for approved entrepreneurs and small business 
owners as part of the program funding.

The SBDC believes this program meets a real gap 
in the market for entrepreneurs seeking support to 
commercialise a service or product.

Tourism BOOST program
Tourism BOOST assists small business owners to 
better understand the tourism industry and enhance 
their financial returns through the use of practical 
marketing initiatives.

In November 2013, the SBDC partnered with the 
Tourism Council of Western Australia (TCWA) for the 
latter to take over delivery of the Tourism BOOST 
workshops. The TCWA was given full responsibility 
for the workshops and provided with promotional 
materials, content and training.

The Tourism BOOST online guide is currently 
accessible through the SBDC website and is used 
extensively by the industry. Since its launch, the 
SBDC has been approached by a number of 
Australian and international tourism bodies seeking 
to use the material to create a similar resource.

Outcomes for 2013-14
Since assuming responsibility for Tourism BOOST, the 
TCWA has delivered five workshops around the State 
to a total of 62 participants.

During the year, the content of the Tourism BOOST 
online guide on the SBDC website was extensively 
updated to maintain its relevancy.

Business Migration program
The SBDC is responsible for the Western Australian 
Government Business Migration program. This 
program is a key investment attraction initiative for 
the State, as business migrants make a significant 
contribution to WA’s economic well-being. Business 
migrants are a leading source of new capital through 
investment, business establishment, export income 
and generating new employment.

The Business Migration program attracts migrants to 
Western Australia by:
• marketing the State as one of the world’s leading 

destinations for investment, employment, 
education and lifestyle;

• providing information on business visa options as 
well as living, working and establishing a business 
in Western Australia; and

One of several Business Migrant Network events held throughout the year.
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• supporting qualifying clients with State 
nomination to become eligible to lodge a visa 
application with the Department of Immigration 
and Border Protection (DIBP) under the Business 
Innovation and Investment program.

The SBDC also promotes Western Australia to agents 
and potential business migrants through local and 
international marketing initiatives focusing on the 
State’s primary immigration markets.

China continues to be a leading market, accounting 
for some 75 per cent of all business migrants coming 
to the State during 2013-14. Malaysia and Singapore 
are the State’s second-ranked markets with 11 per 
cent, followed by South Africa and Iran with two per 
cent each. This year, the SBDC nominated business 
migrants from 16 countries to invest and establish 
businesses in Western Australia.

To generate maximum exposure for the Business 
Migration program and to assist new migrants in 
establishing and developing their businesses in 
Western Australia, the SBDC has formed strategic 
alliances with a range of government and private 
sector organisations, including:
• Department of State Development (DSD) 

International Trade and Investment Offices; 
jointly participating in events, presentations 
and attending appointments with potential 
business migrants.

• Migration Institute of Australia and Migration 
Alliance Western Australian branches; providing 
these organisations with up-to-date information 
on the policies and criteria for State nomination 
for distribution to migration agents in WA 
and overseas.

• Western Australian Chinese Chamber of 
Commerce; jointly hosting events with the 
Chamber to ensure new business migrants are 
aware of the services provided by the SBDC.

• Department of Immigration and Border 
Protection (DIBP); as a member of the national 
Skilled Migration Officials Group and a participant 
of the State Client Reference Group, the SBDC 
consults with DIBP to assist with business 
migration policy development, strategies and 
initiatives.

Outcomes for 2013-14
During the year, representatives from the SBDC 
and the Western Australian International Trade 
and Investment Offices participated in business 
migration activities in the State’s prime markets 
of China, Singapore and Malaysia. More than 
700 potential business migrants attended 26 
presentations about Western Australia and 137 
interviews were conducted. Training was also 
provided to 134 overseas migration agents 
and their staff.

The SBDC hosted 12 incoming delegations 
(comprising 152 delegates) of State-nominated 
and potential business migrants who came to 
explore investment opportunities in Western 
Australia. A program of business presentations and 
visits to various organisations were arranged for 
each delegation.

These events formed part of the overall marketing 
strategy to attract new migrants and to develop and 
reinforce relationships with the State’s international 
trade offices and migration agents based in prime 
target countries.

An incoming business delegation, facilitated by the SBDC, had the 
opportunity to meet with City of Perth Lord Mayor Lisa Scaffidi.
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During 2013-14:
• The SBDC responded to 1,934 enquiries and 

nomination applications from migration agents 
and prospective business migrants;

• 208 State nominations were approved for new 
business migrants to apply for visas to commence 
business in Western Australia;

• 100 State nominations were approved for 
business migrants on temporary residency visas 
to convert to permanent residency visas;

• 11 State nominations were approved for investor 
retirement visa applicants; and

• $209,150 was raised from State nomination 
application fees; this was used to assist with 
the cost of servicing clients and agents and the 
international marketing program.

The key outcome for the Western Australian 
economy is that the 147 business migrants who 
finalised their investment this year injected 
$259.5 million into the State for business 
establishment, investment in Treasury bonds, 
personal expenditure and settlement costs. This 
investment also created 256 new jobs and 16 new 
exporting businesses.

Investment and businesses established by migrants 
range across a variety of industry sectors from 
accommodation to property development. Of the 
export businesses, most of them focused on 
agricultural products and mining resources.

Business Migrant Network
Once settled in Western Australia, the SBDC 
provides ongoing support for migrants through 
its Business Migrant Network. Networking events 
offer an opportunity for recently arrived migrants 
to broaden their business networks through 
meeting other business migrants, representatives 
of industry and ethnic associations and professional 
service providers.

Outcomes for 2013-14
During the year, three network events were hosted 
by the SBDC, attracting 306 participants. The 
network has this year grown to almost 500 members 
and is a valuable source of peer support to assist 
migrants in establishing and developing their family 
lifestyle, investment and business activities.

Small Business Centre program
The Small Business Centre (SBC) program is the 
SBDC’s business advisory outreach service. Service 
providers are not-for-profit, non-government 
organisations contracted to deliver the program in 
25 designated service areas across WA (19 regional 
and six metropolitan areas). In 2013-14, the SBDC 
allocated $3.74 million in core operational funding 
to the service providers, of which $2.86 million 
(76 per cent) was allocated to regional WA.

I migrated to WA with my family 2½ years 
ago from Hungary on a temporary business 
visa. Getting State sponsorship [nomination] 
went very smoothly, and the SBDC helped us 
make the transition to doing business in WA 
painless and straightforward.

We have recently received our permanent 
residency and couldn’t be happier to be able 
to plan our future in WA.

Kris Lippert
MOVIEROCKETS ENTERTAINMENT

“

”
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Outcomes for 2013-14
Throughout 2013-14, the program continued to 
support new and existing small business operators 
through direct person-to-person business advisory 
services, assistance with start-up strategies, business 
growth plans, business resilience guidance and help 
with business exits.

During the year, the program provided 40,992 hours 
of business advisory services to clients and held 
39,505 individual client sessions, which resulted in 
more than 1,470 new business start-ups. In addition, 
the program facilitated the creation of more than 
1,980 jobs and hosted 8,150 workshop participants.

Review into the delivery of business advisory 
services by third party providers
In 2013-14, the SBDC undertook a review of the 
SBC program using the services of an independent 
consultant. The review considered the current use 
of third party providers (i.e. Small Business Centres) 
to deliver business advisory services. It also provided 
a range of recommendations on the future design, 
governance frameworks, outcome measures and 
service types that would best meet the current and 
future needs of small businesses in WA.

In January 2014, the final report outlining proposed 
changes to the program – to be implemented from 
1 July 2014 – was presented to the SBDC Board for 
consideration. The fundamental changes included 
a requirement to move funds from covering 
infrastructure and administration expenses to 
increasing capacity for delivering services to small 
business clients. 

This will redirect program funding from expenditure 
on non-service delivery activities to ‘on-ground’ 
business advisers, supported with a prescribed 
client contact process. This is designed to improve 
and standardise the service delivery experience 
for clients, provide a greater focus on economic 
outcomes from the program and deliver the service 
in the most efficient manner.

Regional Buy Local pilot project
The first quarter of 2013-14 saw the conclusion 
of the Regional Buy Local pilot project. The pilot 
was trialled in nine regional SBCs servicing the 
SuperTowns identified in the Regional Centres 
Development Plan (being Esperance, Manjimup, 
Katanning, Margaret River, Collie, Northam, Jurien 
Bay, Morawa and Boddington).

The project’s objective was to build the capacity 
of local small businesses, creating a viable and 
sustainable environment in the regions for long-
term growth and resilience, despite fluctuating 
economic conditions.

Fifteen workshops were conducted during 
2013-14 as part of the pilot project, covering topics 
such as increasing and building the capacity of 
small businesses, tendering and contracting and 
boosting retailing.

Overall, the project achieved the following outcomes 
across the nine SuperTowns:
• 48 workshops attracting 684 people;
• 446 small businesses surveyed;
• 469 one-on-one consultations;
• 409 businesses made use of mystery shoppers; 

and
• three online business directories were 

established.

The SBDC also worked with the Departments of 
Commerce and Regional Development and a 
representative from the Regional Development 
Commissions to look at opportunities to continue 
this initiative.

Aboriginal business development
The SBDC provides a range of services focused 
on helping Aboriginal people develop and 
grow their small businesses. The agency also 
provides dedicated resources to create and foster 
collaborative relationships between all tiers of 
government and industry in support of Aboriginal 
economic participation.
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Strong, effective relationships have been built with 
Many Rivers Microfinance, to address the financial 
exclusion of many Aboriginal business owners; 
the WA Indigenous Tourism Operators Council 
(WAITOC), to support Aboriginal tourism operators; 
and Tourism WA, to deliver on the State’s Aboriginal 
Tourism Strategy.

The Small Business Commissioner is also a member 
of the Aboriginal Economic Development and 
Governance Sub-Committee (which reports to the 
State Government’s Aboriginal Affairs Coordinating 
Committee (AACC)). The sub-committee’s role is to 
provide advice and guidance to the government in 
relation to Aboriginal economic development.

The SBDC also has relationships with a range 
of resource and construction companies, 
ensuring services are delivered in a coordinated 
manner for the betterment of the Aboriginal 
communities involved.

Outcomes for 2013-14
During the financial year, there were 46 new client 
appointments, 21 follow-up appointments and 105 
stakeholder meetings held with Aboriginal small 
business operators.

The SBDC is involved in a variety of projects, 
strategies and programs to assist the Aboriginal 
small business sector:
• Aboriginal Business Directory WA
 The directory is a joint project between the 

SBDC, Department of Training and Workforce 
Development, Department of Aboriginal Affairs 
and Project Connect (Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry of WA). It addresses one of the Council 
of Australian Governments’ (COAG) seven action 
areas to overcome Indigenous disadvantage in 
economic participation.

 The SBDC maintains operational management 
of the online Aboriginal Business Directory WA. 
This includes fostering relationships with 
private sector sponsors. This Statewide initiative 
details the capabilities of Aboriginal businesses 
registered on the directory and has more than 
220 listings covering a wide range of goods and 
services. Government, private sector and not-
for-profit organisations are using the directory 
to source a range of goods and services such as 
catering, stationery, photography services and 
building maintenance.

 During 2013-14, 11 private companies provided 
financial and in-kind sponsorship, indicating 
its strong relevance in the marketplace and 
demonstrated economic and social outcomes for 
Aboriginal business.

• Aboriginal Economic Participation Strategy 
2012-2016

 This State Government strategy aims to increase 
the potential for Aboriginal people to participate 
more fully in the State’s economy, strengthen 
Aboriginal culture and society, and to ensure 
they have the same life opportunities as 
non-Aboriginal people.

 The strategy incorporates several initiatives that 
have been agreed on at a national level within 
the framework of the Indigenous Economic 
Development Strategy 2011-2018 (Closing the Gap) 
and National Indigenous Reform Agreement.

 Within the strategy, the SBDC has been 
nominated to work collaboratively with the 
Department of Aboriginal Affairs (DAA) in relation 
to Aboriginal economic participation in WA.

 Work was undertaken in 2013-14, in partnership 
with the DAA, to deliver workshops to help 
Aboriginal business owners access procurement 
opportunities with the State Government.

The Aboriginal Business Directory WA has more than 220 listings.
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• Aboriginal Tourism Strategy for WA 2011-2015
 The SBDC is represented on the Aboriginal 

Tourism Strategy steering committee, which has 
developed a strategic plan to assist and support 
the development of viable and sustainable 
Aboriginal tourism businesses.

 The SBDC’s Aboriginal Business Development 
Officer has continued to participate and engage 
with the working party, Tourism WA and WAITOC 
to further develop tourism businesses across 
the State.

• Indigenous Tourism Champions Program (ITCP)
 The ITCP is a national initiative led by Tourism 

Australia and Indigenous Business Australia 
(IBA). The program provides access to business 
development specialists, targeted funding and 
international and trade marketing for selected 
Indigenous cultural tourism businesses.

 The SBDC oversees management of the program 
in WA on behalf of Tourism Australia and IBA.

 There are currently 13 WA-owned and operated 
Aboriginal tourism businesses using the program.

Cover of Aboriginal Tourism Strategy for WA 2011-2015

I started working with the SBDC in 2011, 
initially as a participant in the Aspiring/
Emerging Aboriginal Tourism workshop held 
in Perth.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank 
the team at the SBC West Pilbara for their 
assistance in helping Ngurrangga Tours get 
off the ground and the SBDC for their great 
advice and help.

The most rewarding experience for me is 
that I am in charge of my own destiny and 
have the freedom to do the things that I love, 
which is to teach people about my culture.

Clinton Walker
NGURRANGGA TOURS

“

”

CONTENTS OVERVIEW  
OF AGENCY

EXECUTIVE  
SUMMARY

DISCLOSURES  
AND LEGAL 

COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT 
ISSUES IMPACTING 

THE AGENCY
APPENDIX

sbdc AR 2014.PRINT.V5.indd   29 15/09/2014   11:21 am



Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2013-1430 31

AGENCY 
PERFORMANCE

Agency performance

Policy and advocacy
During 2013-14, the SBDC took a highly proactive 
approach to influencing small business policy 
development at State and Federal levels of 
government. These advocacy efforts focused on 
ensuring the impacts of policy and regulatory 
decisions on the State’s small business sector were 
understood, negative aspects were addressed or 
minimised, and appropriate transition measures had 
been considered by decision-makers.

These advocacy efforts have captured the attention 
of government agencies throughout Australia on a 
variety of issues, with the Productivity Commission 
and Economic Regulation Authority, among others, 
citing the SBDC in a number of their reports.

For many years, the SBDC has understood that the 
best way to influence government decision-making 
has been through an evidence-based approach to 
policy development. For this reason, it continues to 
actively survey small business clients on a range of 
topics, including unfair contract terms, the Personal 
Property Securities Register, and access to justice 
arrangements.

Throughout the year, the SBDC also undertook 
site visits to various businesses, consulted industry 
representatives and engaged the Small Business 
Centre network to garner additional feedback.

This consultation continued through the SBDC’s 
annual State of Small Business survey, which has 
proved a valuable source of small business data 
for the agency. The second round of survey data 
was obtained in August 2013 and has been used 
extensively in submissions, briefings, stakeholder 
engagement and in an internal workshop review. 
The third round of the survey was completed in May 
2014 and will be referred to by the Policy team in its 
ongoing advocacy work and communications with 
stakeholders and government.

Reviews, submissions and consultations
A core function of the SBDC is to monitor regulatory 
reviews and the introduction of new policies at all 
levels of government to assess how they may impact 
on the small business sector in Western Australia.

Where proposed legislative amendments or new 
regulations have a potential impact on small 
businesses, the SBDC ensures the interests of the 
sector are considered by providing formal written 
submissions or liaising directly with the agency 
responsible.

When preparing submissions or making 
representations to government inquiries and reviews, 
the SBDC generally surveys small business clients to 
ensure that their views and feedback are ascertained 
and reflected in its submissions. The Policy and 
Advocacy team also liaises with the Small Business 
Advisory team to identify case studies of relevance to 
particular inquiries or reviews that provide additional 
evidence to support its policy positions.

Regular consultation with key small business 
representative groups is central to the SBDC 
remaining informed of issues affecting the sector. 
The agency maintains and values a strong working 
relationship with a number of representative groups, 
which include:
• Regional Chambers of Commerce and Industry 

of Western Australia (RCCIWA); the SBDC 
regularly liaises with RCCIWA on regional small 
business issues through formalised Statewide 
teleconferences and biannual conferences. The 
SBDC recognises the RCCIWA as the peak 
organisation representing the interests of 
chambers of commerce and business associations 
in regional WA, with a membership base of more 
than 9,000 regional businesses.

Regional Chambers of Commerce and Industry of WA members had the 
opportunity to hear from Small Business Minister Joe Francis – and several 
other Ministers – at Parliament House.
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• Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western 
Australia (CCIWA); among other roles, the SBDC 
also sits on the CCIWA’s Small Enterprise Network’s 
Advisory Panel. The aim of this panel is to 
generate and influence debate on issues at State 
and national levels to ensure the environment is 
beneficial to the success of all WA small businesses. 
At the executive level, quarterly meetings take 
place between the CCIWA and SBDC, while the 
Policy and Advocacy team shares a good working 
relationship at the officer-to-officer level.

• Combined Small Business Alliance of Western 
Australia (CoSBA): the SBDC works with CoSBA to 
promote the interests and development of small 
business in WA. CoSBA is a peak small business 
organisation, representing business associations, 
local chambers of commerce and other small 
business support organisations.

Outcomes for 2013-14
During the year, the SBDC provided input to a 
number of significant reviews and regulatory 
proposals, including:
• Economic Regulation Authority (WA) – Inquiry 

into Microeconomic Reform in Western Australia;
• Department of Commerce (WA) – Proposed 

Reforms to Limited Partnership Laws;
• Department of Commerce (WA) – Review of 

Motor Vehicle Dealers’ and Repairers’ Legislation;
• Department of Transport (WA) – State 

Aviation Strategy;

• Department of Commerce (WA) – Regulating 
Travel Agents in Western Australia;

• Department of Treasury (Cwlth) – “Future of 
Franchising” Response to the Wein Review of the 
Franchising Code of Conduct;

• Productivity Commission (Cwlth) – Study on the 
Relative Costs of Doing Business in Australia;

• Productivity Commission (Cwlth) – Inquiry into 
Access to Justice Arrangements;

• Department of Treasury (Cwlth) – Commonwealth 
Contracting Suite for Suppliers;

• Attorney General (Cwlth) – Statutory Review of 
the Personal Property Securities Act 2009;

• Department of Treasury (Cwlth) – Enhancement 
of the role and functions of the Australian Small 
Business Commissioner;

• Department of Treasury (Cwlth) – Review of 
National Competition Policy;

• Commonwealth Government’s Joint Select 
Committee on Northern Australia – Inquiry into 
the Development of Northern Australia;

• Board of Taxation (Cwlth) – Review of the Tax 
System Impediments Facing Small Business; and

• The Council of Australian Governments – 
Deregulation Agenda and small business end-to-
end mapping.

Through the SBDC’s involvement in consultative 
processes, the agency has successfully influenced 
policy outcomes at State and Federal levels of 
government. This influence has included the 
introduction of stronger small business protections 
under the national Franchising Code of Conduct, 
a reduction in red tape requirements for various 
occupational licences, as well as recognition for the 
SBDC’s Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) service 
as a good working model in Australia.

Regulatory gatekeeping
In Western Australia, proposals for new or amended 
regulation are subject to a Regulatory Impact 
Assessment (RIA) process. This process is managed 
by the Regulatory Gatekeeping Unit (RGU) within 
the Department of Finance and involves two 
stages of review, depending on the level of a 
proposal’s impact.

Initially, agencies are required to complete a 
Preliminary Impact Assessment (PIA) that identifies 
the impacts on small businesses, the economy and 
consumers. All proposals with a significant impact 
are then required to undertake a Consultation 
Regulatory Impact Statement (RIS), followed by a 
Decision RIS.
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The SBDC plays an important role in the RIA process 
by reviewing PIAs and RISs referred by the RGU 
and providing comments from a small business 
perspective. In addition, the SBDC provides direct 
assistance to State Government agencies in 
assessing (and attempting to minimise) the negative 
impacts of proposals on small businesses in WA and 
identifying alternatives to regulation.

Outcomes for 2013-14
The SBDC reviewed 32 PIAs originating from 15 State 
Government agencies. These PIAs were forwarded 
to the SBDC by the RGU to ensure the regulatory 
proposals did not result in adverse or unintended 
consequences for businesses. For each PIA, the SBDC 
offered support for the proposal without objections, 
recommended increased clarity of the proposal’s 
purpose or intended outcomes, or recommended 
further consultation with stakeholders.

State of Small Business project
For the third year in succession, the SBDC has 
undertaken a comprehensive survey of small 
business operators across WA, as part of the State 
of Small Business research project. This project was 
initiated as a means of collecting data and market 
intelligence previously unavailable at the State level. 
The surveys focus on how small businesses perform 
in relation to business planning and training, 
workforce skills and capacity, compliance with 
government regulation, and the use of e-commerce 
and mobile technology.

Over time, the SBDC is using the survey results to 
build a longitudinal picture of WA’s small business 
sector and maintain a finger on the pulse of current 
and emerging issues and trends impacting on small 
business operators.

Outcomes for 2013-14
The 2013 survey targeted a sample of 500 small 
businesses, a reduction in comparison with the 
previous year. However, it still allowed for regional 
to metropolitan data comparisons. Throughout the 
year, the survey results were frequently used by the 
SBDC to inform government decision-making on 
behalf of the small business sector and to enhance 
the agency’s workshop program to better meet the 
needs of small business owners.

Following the Small Business Centre program 
review and the strong regional focus of the State 
Government, the SBDC recognised a need for 
further scrutiny of regional small businesses. As a 
consequence, surveying completed for the third 
round of the project by mid-2014 had an increased 
sample size of 850 small business participants 
(including 508 from the regions).

It is anticipated the results of this latest survey with 
a larger sample size will provide an opportunity 
to analyse key findings on a region-by-region 
basis (such as the Pilbara versus the Wheatbelt). 
This will be particularly useful in informing the 
SBDC’s feedback on the draft Regional Investment 
Blueprints currently being developed by Regional 
Development Commissions.

The 2013 State of Small Business survey proved a valuable source of data for 
the SBDC.
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Ministerial support
An important SBDC role is to provide support and 
advice to the Minister for Small Business on a variety 
of policy matters that affect the small business sector 
in WA. In providing this advice, the SBDC undertakes 
comprehensive research and investigation of issues 
which involves analysis of relevant statistical data, 
engaging with government and non-government 
entities, direct liaison with small business operators 
and using its network of stakeholders.

The Minister attended a number of community 
forums and other functions during the year to 
address local small business operators and received 
advice from the SBDC on topics of interest relevant 
to those audiences.

Outcomes for 2013-14
Throughout the year the SBDC has:
• monitored and scrutinised the latest statistics and 

research relevant to small businesses in WA and 
the rest of Australia;

• consulted with stakeholder groups and industry 
associations to understand members’ concerns;

• maintained close working relationships with 
other government agencies, including a number 
of regulators at all levels of government; and

• informed the Minister for Small Business 
of current views and issues among small 
business operators.

Among the topics investigated by the SBDC on 
behalf of the Minister were issues relating to:
• competition;
• liquor licensing;
• electricity pricing and the Renewable Energy 

Buyback Scheme;
• petrol drive-offs;
• subcontractor payments for government works;
• red tape and regulatory reform; and
• tendering to government and government 

purchasing.

Small Business Commissioners from around Australia came together to advocate for small business.
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Communications and marketing
The SBDC uses a range of on and off-line channels 
to engage with its clients and stakeholders. These 
channels are used to raise awareness of the small 
business sector and its value to the State’s economy, 
and to promote the support services the agency 
provides to business owners and operators.

A broad range of communications activities are 
employed including public relations, marketing, 
advertising, events, social media activities, speaking 
opportunities, content marketing and distributing 
news stories to local, State and interstate media.

Sponsoring local small business awards and 
managing a Statewide awards program enables the 
agency to raise awareness of its support in regional 
areas for small businesses and key stakeholders, 
including the Small Business Centre network and 
regional chambers of commerce and industry.

Outcomes for 2013-14
Media and public relations
The SBDC uses a variety of paid and earned media 
space to promote the agency’s services and the 
importance of the small business sector to the 
WA economy. Over the past financial year, the 
SBDC focused its media and public relations on 
topics including:
• scams affecting small business owners;
• WA Regional Small Business Awards;

• the first WA meeting of State and Federal small 
business commissioners;

• the SBDC’s 30th anniversary;
• results from SBDC commissioned research 

Business Expectations and State of Small Business 
survey; and

• highlighting the use of the Personal 
Property Securities Register (PPSR) to limit 
liquidation losses.

The West Australian continued to produce its 
small business publication Big Deal, with editions 
appearing in October and April. The SBDC 
contributed to a number of articles along with 
columns from the Small Business Commissioner.

Features on the 2013 WA Regional Small Business 
Awards were included in more than 25 stories in 
regional newspapers around the State, covering the 
announcement of finalists and winners and stories 
on individual businesses in each region.

Over the financial year, the SBDC also provided 
a variety of information and articles for inclusion 
in industry and business publications, further 
highlighting the range of assistance the agency has 
to offer.

The SBDC website’s online media centre featured 
media releases, articles relevant to small business, 
statistics and survey data for media outlets. It also 
covered success stories featuring SBDC clients. 

A well-established relationship with the media 
means that the SBDC continues to be viewed by 
journalists as a ready source of expert small business 
information, as well as a story leads for interesting 
articles about small business operators.

Speeches and briefing notes for more than 20 events 
were provided to the office of the Minister for Small 
Business, to communicate the significance of the 
small business sector and the services of the SBDC.

Electronic communications
During 2014-15, the agency’s e-newsletter will 
become fully integrated with the SBDC’s relaunched 
customer relationship management (CRM) system.

The SBDC’s 30th anniversary was one of the main events in 2013-14.
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This will facilitate a relaunch of the newsletter with 
the aim of building distribution numbers. Current 
subscribers include small business owners, industry 
and business associations, chambers of commerce 
and industry and the Small Business Centre network.

The publication was distributed to approximately 
5,200 addresses each month. Significant editorial 
changes have seen higher levels of reader 
engagement. The average monthly opening rate 
was at approximately industry standards, and the 
click-through rate was generally two to three times 
higher than would be expected for government 
communications.

Stakeholder engagement through the SBDC’s 
Facebook page continued to grow, with a more 
strategic approach to page management starting to 
show results. The number of people ‘liking’ the page 
increased by 36 per cent on the previous year, with 
the number of posts made to the page increasing 
by almost 30 per cent. The posts were seen by 
almost 117,000 users, 22 per cent up on the previous 
12 months.

The SBDC also began using Facebook advertising, 
which in turn helped drive traffic to targeted 
messages on the SBDC website, particularly in 
relation to building interest and attendance at 
workshops.

Consistent with last year’s findings, 59 per cent of 
the SBDC’s Facebook followers are female (higher 
than the 46 per cent average across all Facebook). 
The profile of users is also more heavily skewed 
towards the 25-34 and 35-44 age groups than the 
general Facebook age distribution, reflecting the 
profile of small business owners. Almost 78 per cent 
of followers are based in Australia with nearly 75 
per cent from Western Australia, indicating that a 
connection is being made with the target audience.

Business presentations and functions
During 2013-14, the SBDC promoted its services 
through a range of events and presentations to 
key stakeholders.

One significant event hosted by the agency 
was a key stakeholder reception to acknowledge 
the agency’s 30th anniversary. The evening was 
attended by representatives from Small Business 
Centres, chambers of commerce, business and 
industry associations, key current members of staff, 
long-serving staff and a small group of retired staff 
members. Speakers included the current Minister for 
Small Business Hon. Joe Francis MLA and Mr Mal Bryce 
AO, the Minister responsible for the establishment of 
the SBDC in 1984.

The SBDC again partnered with the Department of 
State Development and Office of Women’s Interests 
to present a well attended luncheon in celebration of 
‘Inspiring Entrepreneurship for Women in Business’.

Small business sponsorships and support
The SBDC continues to actively support small business 
award programs in metropolitan and regional areas, 
with a particular focus on the latter whose winners 
feed into the SBDC’s WA Regional Small Business 
Awards program. During 2013-14, sponsorship valued 
at $60,000 was provided to 17 small business awards 
programs throughout the State. These programs, 
managed by local Small Business Centres, chambers 
of commerce and business associations help raise 
the profile of small businesses and acknowledge 
the significant contribution made by small business 
to local communities. The SBDC’s support of these 
programs and resulting branding and speaking 
opportunities also helps to raise the profile of the 
agency and the services it provides directly, and 
through partner organisations, to all areas of the State.

The first Small Business Minister Mal Bryce and Small Business Commissioner 
David Eaton at the 30-year stakeholder event.
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Sponsorship to the value of $10,000 was provided 
to industry-specific award programs and events 
including the WA Tourism Awards, Esperance’s 
Over the Horizon Forum and South East Metro 
Business Expo.

Consistency of communications materials 
and publications
A new look and feel for the agency’s branding was 
developed in mid-2013. The focus during the year has 
therefore been on applying the brand across all 
materials to ensure visual consistency. This has 
included a review and redevelopment of all online 
and printed materials, including marketing collateral, 
advertisements and presentation materials, along with 
client information materials. Greater use was made of 
images for communication, including infographics, to 
share research highlights and animated presentations 
via the agency’s YouTube channel. 

Small Business Commissioner David Eaton, right, learning about 
small businesses in Esperance.

Albany’s Great Southern Distilling Company was named 2013 Business of the 
Year at the annual WA Regional Small Business Awards.

The latter included the creation of a three-minute 
‘sizzler reel’ animated video providing an overview 
of the small business sector in WA and the SBDC. In 
addition to links from the website to the YouTube 
channel, the ‘sizzle’ is also used at the start of 
workshops and presentations to stakeholder groups.

All on and off-line publications produced since the 
start of 2014 have featured a specially created 30 
years ‘stamp’ celebrating the landmark anniversary 
reached by the agency.

In line with the significant changes to be made 
to the Small Business Centre program, planning 
commenced on the rebranding of the service during 
the transition year of 2014-15 and beyond.

Western Australian Regional Small Business Awards
The 11th annual WA Regional Small Business Awards 
program received applications from throughout 
the State, which culminated in a gala presentation 
event held in Perth in November 2013. The Awards 
celebrate the achievements of the small business 
sector in regional areas by providing Statewide 
recognition for winners of local business award 
programs that are supported by the SBDC.

The 2013 presentation event was attended by 
the Minister for Small Business, small business 
operators, their families and friends, managers 
and chairs of Small Business Centres, regional 
chambers of commerce and industry, and business 
associations, along with sponsoring companies and 
media representatives.

Prizes of $1,000 (cash) were provided to each 
category winner, as well as a $25,000 airtime package 
provided by major sponsor, the GWN7 Television 
Network, for the overall Business of the Year winner.

The category award winners for 2013 were:
• Business of the Year – The Great Southern 

Distilling Company, Albany;
• Home-Based Business – The Beach House at 

Bayside, Albany;
• Franchise Business – Allied Pickfords, Esperance;
• Business Achiever – Total Toilets, Geraldton;
• Aboriginal Business – REFAP (Real Employment 

for Aboriginal People), Karratha;
• Micro Business – Freerange Supplies, Kalgoorlie;
• Business with 5-10 employees – Great Southern 

Distilling Company, Albany; and
• Business with 10-20 employees – HOT Cleaning 

Services, Geraldton.
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The 2013 Regional Small Business Hall of Fame 
inductee, also announced at the presentation 
evening, was Vicki Brown from Albany. She was 
recognised for her outstanding contribution to small 
business including her role as manager of the Small 
Business Centre, Great Southern.

The event received Statewide media coverage. 
The winners were also highlighted in full and 
double-page advertisements in The West Australian 
and Regional Lifestyle Magazine. The advertisements 
were supported through sponsorship by the West 
Regional Newspaper Group.

During the year, a review of the WA Regional Small 
Business Awards program was undertaken, including 
wide consultation with the organisers of regional 
awards programs, to ensure it was meeting its 
designated objectives. Outcomes from the review 
showed that the program was widely supported in 
regional areas and provided many positive benefits 
for the associated small businesses.

Category winners at the 2013 WA Regional Small Business Awards.

The Hyatt played host to the annual WA Regional Small Business Awards.

Agency performance
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Corporate governance

Governance disclosures

Enabling legislation
The Small Business Development Corporation Act 
1983 makes provision for the establishment of the 
Small Business Development Corporation and Small 
Business Commissioner to encourage, promote, 
facilitate and assist the establishment, development 
and carrying on of small business in the State and for 
incidental and other purposes.

SBDC Board
The SBDC is governed by a Board, drawn from 
the private sector under the auspices of the Small 
Business Development Corporation Act 1983. The 
eight-member Board (including the Commissioner 
as ex officio) meets on a monthly basis to consider 
issues relevant to the direction and operation of 
the agency.

Membership as at 30 June 2014 comprised:

Ray Mountney
Ray Mountney initially joined the 
Board as a member in August 
2009, with a successful business 
career in the motor industry. 
In June 2010, he was appointed 
Chairman of the Board. As 
owner and Managing Director 
of Fennessy Holden and Nissan 
in Busselton, Mr Mountney has 
served as State delegate to the 
National Franchise Councils of 
Holden and Nissan. He has also 
been active within the broader 
community of the South West, 
holding executive positions 
with the Busselton Chamber of 
Commerce and Small Business 
Centre Vasse.

Susan Bailey
Susan Bailey was appointed to the 
Board in April 2014. Ms Bailey is a 
former owner of two furniture 
and homeware stores and has 
25 years’ experience in the 
residential construction sector, 
working with builders and other 
small businesses. She is a past 
president of the WA Housing 
Industry Association, a Board 
member of the Construction 
Training Fund Board, and an 
industry consultant.

Steven Dobson
Appointed to the Board in 
September 2012, Mr Dobson 
is a director of a family-
owned financial planning firm, 
specialising in advice to small 
business owners. He has worked 
and volunteered with several 
State Government emergency 
service agencies and not-for-profit 
organisations, gaining experience 
in corporate governance and 
volunteer management. Mr 
Dobson has a Master of Business 
Administration from Murdoch 
University, a Bachelor of Business 
(Financial Planning) from RMIT 
University and is a Graduate 
Member of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors.

Agency performance
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Jeffrey Healy
Jeffrey Healy was appointed 
to the Board in September 
2012. He is founder and 
owner of a niche marketing 
consultancy specialising in 
direct marketing. Mr Healy 
has had an extensive career 
in sales, marketing and retail 
including a period with 
Australia Post as Change 
Management Lead, State 
Retail Manager and Marketing 
Manager.

Anthony Masi
Anthony Masi was appointed 
to the Board in April 2014. 
Mr Masi is a pharmacist and 
has owned and operated 
successful small businesses 
in regional WA since 1991. 
These include a camera store, 
health food shop, IGA grocery 
store and two pharmacies. 
He currently employs 35 staff 
at his business in Broome. Mr 
Masi is also a board member 
of the Kimberley Pilbara 
Medicare Local and Boab 
Health; and a committee 
member of the Pharmacy 
Guild of Australia (WA branch).

Mr Masi is an active member 
of the Kyle Andrews 
Foundation, a Broome-based 
children’s cancer charity. He 
was Chair from 2008-2010 and 
is currently the foundation’s 
Treasurer.

Sonia McKeiver
Sonia McKeiver was appointed 
to the Board in September 
2012. She has degrees in law 
and economics from the 
University of Queensland, as 
well as broad experience in 
investigations, compliance 
and dispute resolution 
gained through her roles as a 
compliance officer with the 
Financial Services Authority in 
London, and case manager 
with the Financial Ombudsman 
Service in Melbourne.

Ms McKeiver is also a board 
member of Churchlands 
Primary School and Treasurer 
of the Stirling Apache Softball 
and Teeball Club. She is 
currently employed by the 
Office of the Auditor General 
and conducts performance 
audit work.

Caterina (Kitty) Prodonovich
Kitty Prodonovich was 
appointed to the Board in 
May 2008 and took up her 
position in September the 
same year. Ms Prodonovich 
has owned and operated a 
number of small businesses, 
including two award-winning 
businesses in the Goldfields. 
She was the recipient of the 
Goldfields Young Achiever 
Award and winner of the 
2002 Goldfields Business of 
the Year. She was elected the 
youngest executive member 
of the Kalgoorlie-Boulder 
Chamber of Commerce 
and Industry and is a past 
president. Ms Prodonovich 
is currently Chief Executive 
Officer of the Regional 
Chambers of Commerce and 
Industry of WA.

David Eaton (ex officio)
David Eaton was appointed WA’s 
first Small Business Commissioner 
and CEO of the SBDC in December 
2011. In this dual role, he is 
responsible for the SBDC’s day-to-
day operations and the Alternative 
Dispute Resolution (ADR) service for 
small business.

Mr Eaton began his career as a 
business owner, growing a small 
clothing and textile business, to 
a large manufacturing company. 
Later, he had a successful career 
with Australia Post, appointed State 
Commercial Manager in 2003. Mr 
Eaton is also a Graduate Member of 
the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and a member of an 
advisory board at Curtin University.

Agency performance
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Functions of the Board
As the SBDC’s governing body, the Board has 
responsibility for performing the functions set out in 
the Small Business Development Corporation Act 1983.

The SBDC Board has four strategic roles:
• setting the direction of the agency;
• coordination of planning, policies, and decision-

making frameworks;
• determination of standards; and
• acting in an advisory capacity to the Minister, the 

Government and other agencies.

Operational roles of the Board include:
• setting strategies;
• striving for organisational best practice and 

compliance with standards;
• focusing on client service and customer needs; 

and
• delegating operational decision-making to 

officers within the SBDC.

Agency performance

Members current as at 30 June 2014

Terms of appointment/meetings attended

Name Initially appointed Term expires 2013-14 
meetings attended

Ms Caterina Prodonovich 12/05/2008 30/09/2014 11

Mr Ray Mountney 03/08/2009 30/09/2014 12

Mr Steven Dobson 10/09/2012 30/09/2015 12

Mr Jeffrey Healy 10/09/2012 30/09/2015 10

Ms Sonia McKeiver 10/09/2012 30/09/2015 12

Ms Susan Bailey 07/04/2014 01/04/2017  3

Mr Anthony Masi 07/04/2014 01/04/2017  2

Mr David Eaton (ex officio) 11

Board remuneration

Position Name Type of 
remuneration

Period of 
membership

Gross/actual 
remuneration

Chairman Mr Ray Mountney Annual Full year $23,631.72

Member Mr Steven Dobson Annual Full year $9,474.34

Member Mr Jeffrey Healy Annual Full year $9,474.34

Member Ms Sonia McKeiver Annual Full year $9,474.34

Member Ms Caterina Prodonovich Annual Full year $9,474.34

Member Ms Susan Bailey Annual Part year 
(3 months)

$1,967.77

Member Mr Anthony Masi Annual Part year 
(3 months)

$1,967.77

CONTENTS OVERVIEW  
OF AGENCY

EXECUTIVE  
SUMMARY

DISCLOSURES  
AND LEGAL 

COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT 
ISSUES IMPACTING 

THE AGENCY
APPENDIX

sbdc AR 2014.PRINT.V5.indd   40 15/09/2014   11:21 am



Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2013-1441

AGENCY 
PERFORMANCE

Agency performance

Directors and officers liability insurance
The SBDC takes out directors and officers liability 
insurance through RiskCover to provide cover for 
Board members. The policy has an indemnity limit of 
$10 million. For 2013-14, the SBDC contributed $6,669 
towards the annual premium with individual Board 
members also making a personal contribution.

Corporate resources
The corporate resources team provides support to 
the agency through:
• financial management including budgeting and 

accounting services;
• human resource management;
• online services management;
• information technology infrastructure 

management;
• records, library and information management 

services;
• facilities management including assets, fleet, 

accommodation and procurement; and
• general administration.

Other financial disclosures

Internal audit
The SBDC outsources its internal audit function 
which focuses on the effectiveness of key processes 
and controls in order to satisfy the compliance 
requirements of the Financial Management Act 2006 
and applicable Treasurer’s Instructions.

The audit provides assurance to the SBDC Board and 
management in relation to the quality, reliability, 
adequacy and integrity of the systems of internal 
control, compliance and reporting.

Pricing policies
The SBDC collects the following fees:
• Alternative Dispute Resolution (mediation) fee; set 

at $125 per disputing party it represents partial 
cost-recovery for the Government. The total cost 
of each mediation session is generally $900 with 
the SBDC subsidising the difference between the 
cost and fees received.

• Application fees for business migrants seeking 
State nomination to relocate to WA; currently set 
at $500 for a provisional business visa and $750 
for a permanent business visa. The fees represent 
partial cost-recovery for the processing of 
applications under the Business Innovation and 
Investment Visa program.

The agency’s fees and charges are reviewed annually 
as part of the budget process.

Finance and Audit Management 
Committee (FAMC)
The FAMC comprises up to three Board members, 
the Small Business Commissioner and the Director 
Corporate Resources (Chief Finance Officer).

The primary functions of the FAMC are to:
• report to the Board and provide appropriate 

advice and recommendations on matters relating 
to accounting practices, internal control and 
financial risk management; and

• review and make recommendations to the Board 
in respect to the annual budget.

During the year the FAMC met on one occasion to 
review internal and external audit results, and the 
2014-15 budget and process.

Our people

Workforce development
During late 2013, a new Performance Development 
Plan (PDP) was developed and implemented for staff. 
The aim was to achieve a more streamlined process 
to assist individuals and business units to meet the 
objectives of the agency’s operational and strategic 
plans. The aim is to continue increasing employee 
participation in this process, as well as providing 
coaching to managers, to make the process more 
valuable to business units and staff development.

Briefings were provided to each business unit, 
on how to complete the PDPs and best use the 
supporting resources.

Staff development has also been provided through 
acting opportunities, where appropriate, to enhance 
skills and career progression.
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Business Insight program
The SBDC acknowledges the importance of 
keeping agency staff well-informed of the latest 
business trends, changes in legislation and current 
business issues. Business Insight is a regular series 
of information sessions to promote the professional 
development of SBDC staff.

Speakers from private businesses and other 
government departments are invited to address staff 
in order to share information.

Business Insight also helps to build mutual awareness 
between the SBDC and other government agencies 
at Federal and State levels.

Outcomes for 2013-14
This year, the Business Insight program conducted 
14 presentations that were attended by 168 
participants, covering:
• website template services;
• intellectual property – due diligence;
• ASIC (Australian Securities and Investments 

Commission) small business services;
• SpaceCubed small business hub;
• Personal Properties Securities Act 2009;
• insolvency processes and services;
• Google for small business;
• Many Rivers Microfinance;
• Equal Opportunity Commission;
• contract negotiation;
• Supply Nation Indigenous enterprise;
• Australia Post small business services; and
• SBDC small business case studies.

Leadership development
During the year, a number of key staff took part 
in leadership development training to improve 
individual and team performance. The program’s 
focus was to provide a cohesive leadership 
environment through:
• clear behavioural and attitudinal expectations;
• a shared vision and direction for the Small 

Business Services team;
• improved interaction with operational staff;
• positive, proactive and efficient team morale; and
• improved performance in the delivery of 

strategic objectives.

Staffing summary – as at June 2014

Employee profile 2013-14

Permanent full-time 43*

Permanent part-time 11*

Fixed term full-time 3

Casual 7

Total 64

* Three permanent full-time and one permanent part-time employees were on 
parental leave as of 30 June 2014.

Reconciliation Action Plan
The SBDC Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) was 
updated to cover 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2017, 
replacing the previous plan created in 2008. The RAP 
has been developed in line with the SBDC’s strategic 
plan to create awareness and understanding of the 
needs, skills and contribution to the State made by 
Aboriginal business operators. 

It also aims to foster meaningful engagement across 
the agency and broader small business sector.

The RAP is championed by a working group, made 
up of six staff from across teams within the SBDC. 
The plan has been endorsed by the Corporate 
Executive.

Action items within the RAP are focused on three 
main areas:
• Relationships: It is important for the SBDC to 

build strong relationships between the Aboriginal 
and mainstream business sectors to ensure 
collaboration, recognition and promotion of 
business activities and aspirations. It is envisaged 
the SBDC’s role in facilitating relationship-
building creates a better understanding and 
acknowledgment of the similarities, legitimacy, 
contribution and diversity of Aboriginal 
businesses within the broader economy.

• Respect: It is important for staff to respect 
and have a good understanding of the State’s 
diversity of Aboriginal people, culture and history. 
This will provide recognition of Aboriginal people 
in developing productive, successful businesses, 
with appropriate governance and strategies to 
compete with non-Aboriginal Australians.

• Opportunities: Finding opportunities for 
Aboriginal business operators and assisting new 
business start-ups to ensure the continuing 
development while raising the profile of 
Aboriginal businesses across WA.
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The progress of action items included in the RAP are 
to be regularly tracked and reported throughout its 
period of currency.

Occupational Safety and Health (OS&H)
The SBDC is committed to ensuring operational 
activities are carried out with full regard for the 
health, safety and welfare of employees, contractors 
and the public.

The WorkSafe Plan is followed, where applicable, 
because of the systematic way it measures how 
well OS&H is being managed across the agency. 
The WorkSafe Plan has five elements, each with a 
prescribed performance standard:
• management commitment;
• planning;
• consultation and reporting;
• hazard management; and
• training and supervision.

To provide a positive OS&H culture, all new staff – 
including contractors from agencies – undergo a full 
induction covering an awareness of:
• the OS&H Management System and policy;
• hazard identification and accident/incident 

reporting;
• location of first-aid kits;
• contact names of first-aid officers;
• the Injury Management System and policy; and
• evacuation procedures.

It is the SBDC’s policy to comply with all provisions 
of the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984, 
Regulations and Code of Practice: Occupational 
Safety and Health in the Western Australian 
Public Sector.

Consultative mechanisms
The SBDC acknowledges its responsibility for 
consultation on OS&H matters. A consultative 
process is provided through senior management 
meetings, monthly all-staff meetings, team 
meetings, and by individual incident reporting. 
The Occupational Safety and Health Management 
System, Injury Management System and related 
policies are available through the extranet. OS&H 
matters and issues are a standing agenda item for 
discussion at Board meetings.

Injury Management System
The Injury Management System has been developed 
to support the SBDC’s injury management policy and 
is fully compliant with the requirements of the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.

Workers’ compensation
The SBDC is committed to managing employees 
who sustain an injury or illness at work or elsewhere. 
The agency applies a practical approach to claims 
management in relation to injury management 
and rehabilitation. To 30 June 2014, no workers’ 
compensation claims were lodged and there was 
no lost time.

Information on how to lodge a workers’ compensation 
claim is provided by the Human Resources Coordinator 
and Director Corporate Resources following the 
reporting of any OS&H incidents.

Indicator 2012-13 actual 2013-14 target 2013-14 result

Number of fatalities 0 0 0

Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D) 0 0 or 10% reduction 
on previous year

Maintained zero 
result

Lost time injury/disease severity rate 0 0 or 10% 
improvement on 

previous year

Maintained zero 
result

Percentage of injured workers returned 
to work within (i) 13 weeks and (ii) 
26 weeks.

n/a
no injured workers

100% n/a
no injured workers

Percentage of managers trained in 
occupational safety, health and injury 
management responsibilities

60% Greater than or 
equal to 50%

60%
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Online resources and information technology
ICT (information and communications technology) 
systems and upgrades
Following the successful transition from the 
Office of Shared Services to separate cloud-based 
solutions for finance and HR services in May 2013, 
there have been significant improvements in access 
to reporting and the timeliness of processing 
transactions. The finance system, in particular, now 
provides enhanced reporting detail against budgets 
and greater control to ensure timely payments 
to suppliers.

A review of the SBDC’s customer relationship 
management (CRM) system identified a number of 
desired enhancements to the information collected 
and usability of the system by staff.

As part of an ongoing program of ICT equipment 
replacement, the agency:
• Replaced its server, data storage and data 

backup infrastructure. All systems were 
successfully migrated with minimal impact on 
business operations.

• Purchased replacement desktop PCs.

SBDC website
The website remains a popular source for 
information about operating a small business. With 
most people using search engine websites to find 
answers to questions, it is essential that websites are 
search engine-optimised and rank highly. More than 
75 per cent of visitors to the SBDC site arrived via a 
search engine with Google providing the majority of 
referral visits.

The content management system (CMS) upgrade 
has provided a range of new features, improved 
compliance with changes to accessibility standards 
and a suitable platform for future redesigns and 
upgrades. The agency’s business migration website 
is also likely to be consolidated into the upgraded 
CMS.

Outcomes for 2013-14
During 2013-14, the number of visitors to the SBDC 
website (and business migration site) grew, with the 
number of clients spending four minutes or more 
increasing by 29 per cent.

More than 75% of visitors to the SBDC website arrived via a search engine.

Agency performance
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Disclosures and legal compliance
Independent auditor’s report

To the Parliament of Western Australia 
SMALL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Small Business Development Corporation.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2014, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and 
Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Corporation’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Corporation is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Corporation determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit 
be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Corporation’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by the Corporation, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Small Business Development 
Corporation at 30 June 2014 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions.

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  

MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  

TEL: 08 6557 7500 FAX: 08 6557 7600
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Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Small Business Development Corporation during the year ended 30 June 2014.

Controls exercised by the Small Business Development Corporation are those policies and procedures established by the Corporation to ensure that the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions.

Corporation’s Responsibility for Controls
The Corporation is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition 
and disposal of public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and 
other relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the controls exercised by the Small Business Development Corporation based 
on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls to ensure that the Corporation complies with the legislative 
provisions. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation of relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Small Business Development Corporation are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions during 
the year ended 30 June 2014.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Small Business Development Corporation for the year ended 30 June 2014.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service 
provision.

Corporation’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Corporation is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Corporation determines necessary to ensure that the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

Independent auditor’s report
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Independent auditor’s report

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk assessments the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the Corporation’s preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of outcome 
achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Small Business Development Corporation are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Corporation’s 
performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2014.

Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and 
other relevant ethical requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the Small Business Development Corporation for the year ended 30 June 
2014 included on the Corporation’s website. The Corporation’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Corporation’s website. This audit does not provide 
assurance on the integrity of the Corporation’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key performance indicators described above.  
It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of 
the financial statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard 
copy of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key 
performance indicators.

DON CUNNINGHAME 
ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL FINANCIAL AUDIT 
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia 
11 September 2014
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Certification of Key Performance Indicators
We hereby certify that the Key Performance Indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Small Business 
Development Corporation’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Small Business Development Corporation for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

R. Mountney
Chairman

D. Eaton
Small Business Commissioner

8 September 2014
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Performance Indicators
The Small Business Development Corporation (SBDC) operates under the broad high level government strategic goal “to responsibly manage the State’s finances through 
the efficient and effective delivery of services, encourage economic activity and reduce regulatory burdens on the private sector”. To meet this goal, SBDC’s mission is “to deliver 
and facilitate the provision of relevant, practical support to small businesses and foster the development of policy conducive to the growth of a thriving small business sector”.

SBDC’s outcome and services that link with this government goal are shown in the table below.

Government goal Desired outcome Services

Financial and economic responsibility:
responsibly managing the State’s finances through 
the efficient and effective delivery of services, 
encouraging economic activity and reducing 
regulatory burdens on the private sector.

Development of new and existing small business in 
Western Australia.

Information, guidance, referral and business 
development services.

In 2013-14, SBDC achieved this desired outcome by:
The provision of specialised information, referral 
and business facilitation services for the effective 
development of enterprises in Western Australia. This 
includes access to justice for small businesses through 
the Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) service.

The following outlines the key effectiveness and 
efficiency indicators that have been developed to 
measure SBDC’s performance.

Key effectiveness indicators
The effectiveness of the SBDC in meeting its 
outcome is measured by:
• Client surveys with key stakeholder groups, 

namely:
 – small business owners – those who are 

already operating their own business; and
 – small business starters – those planning 

or contemplating operating a business in 
the future.

• The impact of business migration to the 
State, namely:
 – new businesses planned by business migrants.

Client opinion of the services provided by 
the SBDC
The SBDC provides a range of small business services 
to those in business as well as those planning 
on starting or buying a business (refer Report on 
Operations for details of these services). The SBDC 
also provides core business facilitation services in 
major centres across the State through the provision 
of funding for the network of 25 Small Business 
Centres (SBCs). The effectiveness of small business 
services is measured by client surveys of those who 
have contacted the SBDC and SBCs during 2013-14.

Key effectiveness indicators used to measure SBDC’s 
performance in achieving its desired outcomes are 
subject to regular review, with indicators refined to 
reflect the services delivered to key client groups.
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Key effectiveness indicators are:
• usefulness of the information and guidance 

provided (asked of all client contacts surveyed);
• contribution the service made to an informed 

decision to start or buy a business (asked only 
of those who were planning or contemplating 
starting or buying a business);

• the extent the information or guidance benefited 
the operations of the business (asked of business 
clients who had met with an SBC manager or 
SBDC adviser); and

• the value of the guidance or information received 
(asked of business clients who had met with an 
SBC manager, had visited the business information 
centre or met with an SBDC adviser).

The measures reported below are based on two 
telephone surveys conducted during 2013-14 of 
random samples of SBDC and SBC clients. They have 
been carried out by an independent market research 
company to ensure maximum objectivity1. Results 
from an evaluation of those who had attended 
workshops at the SBDC were also taken into account 
where appropriate.

The effectiveness measures reported below 
combine the client scores of both the SBDC and 
the SBC network. High customer satisfaction with 
services has been maintained over several years, 
with indicators measured in 2013-14 showing no 
statistically significant shifts at the 95 per cent 
confidence level, in comparison with the previous 
three years.

In having the Small Business Development 
Corporation on my side, I have come to find 
that it really matters who you know in any 
business. Every source I have had has been 
a result of being taught to network with 
industry people.

Network and net worth are two different 
phrases that continue to be related in the 
business world. I will continue to connect 
with more people in order to increase my 
chances of success every day.

Chisenga Gander Katongo
DIAMOND CHAIN MUSIC

“

”

1 The performance evaluation for 2013-14 where clients were contacted by telephone was undertaken by Advantage Communications and Marketing. Telephone 
surveys were undertaken with random selections of clients who had directly sought information and guidance during 2013-14. 717 client surveys were achieved to give 
a maximum standard error ratio of +/– 3.6% at the 95% confidence level. Overall, 88% of respondents contacted agreed to participate in the survey. The valid sample 
for each service area was as follows:

 Table 1: Summary of clients surveyed as part of the SBDC’s 2013-14 performance evaluation

Business operators Business starters Total sample

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2011 – 12 2012-13 2013-14 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

Clients – direct advice

Small business services 138 196 181 68 65 83 206 261 264

Business information centre 66 30 30 139 170 173 205 200 203

Workshop attendees1 305 557 795 631 939 1,263 936 1,496 2,058

Small Business Centres 148 138 149 102 112 101 250 250 250

Total 657 921 1,155 940 1,286 1,620 1,597 2,207 2,775

1 All 2,322 who had attended a program workshop at the SBDC in 2013-14 were asked to complete an evaluation at the end of the workshop, with 2,058 (or 88%) of all attendees 
completing a survey form and nominating if they were in business or planning or contemplating starting a business.

CONTENTS OVERVIEW  
OF AGENCY

EXECUTIVE  
SUMMARY

AGENCY 
PERFORMANCE

SIGNIFICANT 
ISSUES IMPACTING 

THE AGENCY
APPENDIX

sbdc AR 2014.PRINT.V5.indd   50 15/09/2014   11:21 am



Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2013-1451

DISCLOSURES  
AND LEGAL 

COMPLIANCE

Disclosures and legal compliance

Usefulness of information or guidance provided
All clients surveyed were asked: “How would you rate 
the usefulness of the information/guidance provided 
to you?”

Ninety-three per cent of survey participants rated 
the information/guidance provided as very or 
somewhat useful in 2013-14, compared to 93 per 
cent in 2012-13, 94 per cent in 2011-12, 88 per cent 
in 2010-11 and 91 per cent in 2009-10. The target for 
2013-14 was 92 per cent.
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Contribution of service to start-up decisions
All clients interviewed who were either 
contemplating, planning or in the process of starting 
or buying a business were asked: “Would you say 
your contact with the SBDC/SBC directly contributed 
to you making an informed decision about starting 
or buying your business?”

There was a minor increase compared to last year in 
the number of business starters who believed the 
services of the SBDC/SBCs had directly contributed 
to their decision to start or buy a business. In 2013-14, 
82 per cent gave a positive response compared to 
78 per cent in 2012-13, 80 per cent in 2011-12, 
78 per cent in 2010-11 and 69 per cent in 2009-10. 
The target for 2013-14 was 76 per cent.
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The benefit of the information or guidance received on business operations
All clients who were in business and had met with a Small Business Centre manager or an SBDC adviser (that 
is, they had longer than a brief telephone conversation) were asked: “To what extent has the information or 
guidance received benefited the operations of your business?”

Overall, 82 per cent of business owners said the information or advice had benefited the operations of their 
business to a great, or to some extent. This is comparable with 2012-13 (82 per cent), 2011-12 (83 per cent) and 
2010-11 (84 per cent) and represents an increase against the results achieved in 2009-10 (78 per cent). The target 
for 2013-14 was 83 per cent.
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Value of the information/guidance received
All business clients interviewed who had met with a 
Small Business Centre manager or an SBDC adviser, 
or had contacted the business information centre 
were asked: “How would you rate the value of the 
information or guidance you received?”

Eighty per cent of those surveyed said they valued 
the information or guidance received, which is a 
reduction against the results achieved in 2012-13 (84 
per cent) and 2011-12 (85 per cent). The target for 
2013-14 was 81 per cent.
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Impact of Business Migration on the State
The key role of the Business Migration program is 
to attract business migrants to WA to invest in its 
economic growth and development. The program 
is a successful investment attraction initiative for 
Western Australia and business migrants make a 
significant contribution to the State’s economic 
prosperity by being a leading source of new capital 
investment, business establishment, export income 
and employment generation.

In 2013-14, the SBDC granted State nomination for 
319 business migrants and registration for a further 
business migrant for a non-nominated visa from 
prime markets in China, Malaysia, Singapore and 
South Africa and 12 other countries to invest in 
Western Australia.

From 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014, 147 business 
migrants granted permanent residency and 
extensions to their investor retirement visas 
finalised their investment in WA. Table 2 shows 
the confirmed economic benefit of the Business 
Migration program to Western Australia for this 
period and the impact on the State’s economy for 
the financial year under review.

Businesses established by migrants with confirmed 
investments range across the full spectrum of 
business activity in the State, including the 
accommodation, property development and retail 
sectors. Export businesses were, in the main, in the 
agricultural and resources sectors.
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Customer Service IndexApplication fees paid by business migrants to the 
SBDC for State nomination this year totalled $209,150. 
This covered around 50 per cent of the total cost 
of delivering the WA Business Migration program 
in 2013-14.

Customer Service Index
The Customer Service Index was introduced to 
measure the extent to which the SBDC and the SBC 
network satisfied customer enquiries and requests 
for assistance. Questions asked were included in 
the Performance Evaluation Survey. The Customer 
Service Index comprises five individual performance 
indicators focusing on both the process and 
outcomes of providing services to clients.

The Customer Service Index rating of 92 per cent 
in 2013-14 compares favourably against the scores 
achieved in the previous years (92 per cent in 2012-13 
and 2011-12, 90 per cent in 2010-11 and 91 per cent in 
2009-10). The target for 2013-14 was 92 per cent.

Table 2: Confirmed WA investment from Permanent Residency Business Visa Holders

Business migration 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

Total capital in-flow $293,437,685 $304,524,805 $260,502,656 $259,540,986

Capital in business $109,194,262 $104,316,671 $77,966,279 $110,724,667

WA Treasury Bonds $18,750,000 $21,000,000 $20,500,000 $18,750,000

Jobs created 227 145 90 256

Businesses exporting 20 21 13 16
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Table 3: Indicators showing the positive response that comprise the Customer Service Index over the last five years, along with the target for 2013-14, are 
shown in the table below.

2009-10 
%

2010-11 
%

2011-12 
%

2012-13 
%

2013-14 
%

2013-14 
Target

Usefulness:
How useful was the information and guidance provided to you?

91 88 94 93 93 92

Business operations:
To what extent has the information or guidance received benefited the operations of your business?

78 84 83 82 82 83

Access:
Would you describe the task of accessing the service as being easy or difficult?

93 94 94 95 96 95

Service:
How would you rate the overall level of customer service provided by the staff?

95 93 94 95 95 96

Repeat:
Would you use the service(s) again if the need arose?

96 93 94 93 93 95

Customer Service Index 91 90 92 92 92 92
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Efficiency indicators
Efficiency indicators relate outputs to the level of resource inputs required to produce them.

Output: information, guidance, referral and business development services

Provision of specialised information, referral and business facilitation services for the effective development of enterprises in Western Australia.

Four efficiency indicators are provided. The score for each indicator, as well as the comparative scores set in 2012-13, 2011-12, 2010-11 and 2009-10, along with the target 
for 2013-14, are set out below.

Efficiency indicators 2013-14
target

 2013-14 actual 2012-13 2011-12 2010-11 2009-10

Cost for direct client contacts  $33.63 $7,251,269 $23.36 $28.71 $32.56 $34.20 $25.73

Number of direct client contacts/equivalents2  310,419

Cost of indirect client contacts
Number of indirect client contacts3

 $2.88 $250,025 $2.65 $2.64 $3.28 $ 3.22 $2.34

94,230

Cost of SBC services4

Number of SBC client contacts
$97.11 $5,104,089 $107.11 $95.62 $96.20 $92.00 $75.81

 47,655

Policy advice5 $1,162,085 $1,270,455 $1,070,579 $1,487,976 $1,292,736 $1,322,430

The target for 2013-14 is as published in the 2013-14 Budget Statements (Budget Paper No 2 Volume 2) Page 499.

2 Number of direct client contacts is as specified in the Output Measures (refer Report on Operations) – 310,419.

 Explanation: Direct client contacts have contacted the SBDC for guidance or information either by a personal visit, by telephone or have visited SBDC websites for four minutes or more, or have downloaded a licence pack from the Business Licence Finder. 
Direct client contacts also include SBDC workshop attendees.

 The cost per direct client contact is lower than the 2012-13 result and 2013-14 target due to an overall increase in the number of client contacts, particularly those visiting SBDC websites.

3 Indirect client contacts are exposed to a range of advisory, information, referral and business services that would impact on their growth and business development. These include 8,555 clients who have attended award functions, expos or other forums 
which the SBDC has organised, has been the major sponsor where the focus has been on business development, or where an SBDC representative has given an address on small business matters. Indirect client contacts also include the 85,675 occasions 
SBDC websites have been browsed for between two and four minutes. The 2013-14 cost of indirect client contacts is consistent with the result achieved in 2012-13 and the target for 2013-14.

4 SBC client contacts. A total of 47,655 client assists were recorded in 2013-14 compared to 51,085 in 2012-13. The increase in cost per SBC client contact against the 2013-14 target and the 2012-13 result is due largely to a review of the SBC program resulting in 
additional costs and an overall reduction in client contacts.

5 Policy advice includes policy submissions, investigative research, ministerial correspondence, industry liaison and small business sector advocacy. The cost of policy advice includes salaries and related staffing costs and all other direct costs associated 
with the Policy and Advocacy section of the SBDC, together with a notional allocation of corporate overheads. The increase in the cost of policy advice against the 2012-13 actual and 2013-14 target relates to higher salaries due to appointments to vacant 
positions and aligns with increased work output.
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Certification of financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014
The accompanying financial statements of the Small Business Development Corporation have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2014 and the financial position as 
at 30 June 2014.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

R. Mountney
Chairman

D. Eaton
Small Business Commissioner

R. Buttsworth
Chief Finance Officer

8 September 2014
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2014

Note 2014
 $

2013
 $

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense  6  6,045,378  5,513,034
Supplies and services  7  3,424,630  3,499,540
Depreciation and amortisation expense  8  122,888  78,612
Communications expense  120,755  117,628
Maintenance expense  58,914  47,462
Grants and subsidies  9  3,681,415  3,654,711
Cost of sales  10  5,113  7,942
Other expenses  12  416,745  362,501

Total cost of services  13,875,838  13,281,430
Income
Revenue

User charges and fees  13  251,914  218,079
Sales  10  10,579  16,054
Grants and contributions  14  0  288,000
Interest revenue  15  54,244  110,051
Other revenue  16  56,502  30,815

Total Revenue  373,239  662,999
Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets  11  0  28
Total Gains  0  28
Total income other than income from State Government  373,239  663,027
NET COST OF SERVICES  13,502,599  12,618,403
Income from State Government  17

Service appropriation  11,645,000  11,908,000
Services received free of charge  183,210  176,461
Royalties for Regions Fund  0  450,000

Total income from State Government  11,828,210  12,534,461
DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (1,674,389) (83,942)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (1,674,389) (83,942)

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 2014
 $

2013
 $

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  18,29  1,157,172  2,588,557
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  19,29  102,196  354,678
Inventories  10  0  9,507
Receivables  20  142,895  234,179
Amounts receivable for services  21  60,000  60,000
Other current assets  22  121,234  97,069

Total Current Assets  1,583,497  3,343,990
Non-Current Assets

Amounts receivable for services  21  354,000  319,000
Furniture, plant and equipment  23  78,478  121,439
Intangible assets  24  157,175  207,102

Total Non-Current Assets  589,653  647,541
TOTAL ASSETS  2,173,150  3,991,531
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables  26  291,861  477,768
Provisions  27  1,276,521  1,189,609

Total Current Liabilities 1,568,382 1,667,377
Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions  27  214,767  319,764
Total Non-Current Liabilities  214,767  319,764
TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,783,149  1,987,141
NET ASSETS  390,001  2,004,390
EQUITY  28

Contributed equity  1,178,885  1,118,885
Accumulated (deficit)/surplus  (788,884)  885,505

TOTAL EQUITY  390,001  2,004,390

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2014
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 Note Contributed
equity

$

Accumulated
surplus/
(deficit)

$

Total
equity

$

Balance at 1 July 2012  28  940,885  969,447  1,910,332
Total comprehensive income for the period 0 (83,942) (83,942)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations  178,000 0  178,000
Balance at 30 June 2013  1,118,885  885,505  2,004,390

Balance at 1 July 2013  1,118,885  885,505  2,004,390
Total comprehensive income for the period 0 (1,674,389) (1,674,389)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations  60,000 0  60,000
Balance at 30 June 2014  1,178,885 (788,884)  390,001

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2014
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2014

Note 2014
$

2013
$

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation  11,550,000  11,819,000
Capital appropriation  60,000  178,000
Holding account drawdown  60,000  60,000
Royalties for Regions Fund  0  450,000

Net cash provided by State Government  11,670,000  12,507,000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee benefits (5,980,501) (5,428,596)
Supplies and services (3,362,991) (3,523,846)
Communication expense (125,349) (128,321)
Maintenance expense (78,178) (63,802)
Grants and subsidies (3,745,174) (3,611,731)
GST payments on purchases (727,485) (749,252)
Other payments (436,188) (370,164)

Receipts
Sale of goods and services  10,686  16,402
User charges and fees  251,914  218,193
Grants and contributions  0  288,000
Interest received  64,669  115,320
GST receipts on sales  10,797  10,566
GST receipts from taxation authority  746,923  738,367
Other receipts  47,010  44,839

Net cash used in operating activities  29 (13,323,867) (12,444,025)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets (30,000) (367,453)
Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  0  28
Net cash used in investing activities (30,000) (367,425)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,683,867) (304,450)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  2,943,235  3,247,685
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 29  1,259,368  2,943,235

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards
General
The Corporation’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting 
Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

The Corporation has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The Corporation cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Corporation for the annual 
reporting period ended 30 June 2014.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) General statement
The Corporation is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements 
of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to 
vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed 
in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention and are presented in Australian dollars.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Corporation’s accounting 
policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Corporation only.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be 
recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers 
are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service appropriations

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Corporation gains control of the appropriated funds. The Corporation gains control of 
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Corporation obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Corporation obtains control over the funds. The Corporation obtains control of the funds at 
the time the funds are deposited into the Corporation’s bank account.

Gains

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. This includes gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Furniture, plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Items of furniture, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of 
furniture, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of 
similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement

Furniture, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. For items of furniture, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date 
of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the historical cost model is used for the measurement of all items of furniture, plant and equipment where they are stated at historical cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic 
benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful life for Computing Equipment is 3 to 4 years.

(g) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Cost incurred below the threshold 
is immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. 
All intangible assets controlled by the Corporation have a finite useful life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Software – 3 to 4 years

Development costs – 3 to 4 years
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Intangible assets (continued)
Computer Software

Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Development Costs

Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried forward when the future economic benefits can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely 
to exceed $10,000. Other development costs are expensed as incurred.

(h) Impairment of assets
Furniture, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and 
an impairment loss is recognised. As the Corporation is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the 
asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there 
is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. 
Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference 
to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the 
end of each reporting period.

(i) Leases
The Corporation holds operating lease arrangements for the rent of the motor vehicles. Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the 
pattern of benefits derived from the leased vehicles. No finance lease is held by the Corporation.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(j) Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Corporation has two categories of financial instrument:

–  Receivables; and

–  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial Assets

–  Cash and cash equivalents

–  Restricted cash and cash equivalents

–  Receivables

–  Amounts receivable for services

Financial Liabilities

–  Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required 
as the effect of discounting is not material.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(l) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 26 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year 
end. The Corporation considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

(m) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The Corporation receives income from the State Government partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account receivable). The accrued amount appropriated is accessible on the 
emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(n) Inventories
Publication stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned on an average cost basis.

(o) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis 
and any receivables identified as uncollectable are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective 
evidence that the Corporation will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

(p) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Corporation becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.

(q) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

Provisions – employee benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period. An actuarial assessment of annual leave and long service 
leave had been undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers Securities Limited at 30 June 2014 using the present value of expected future payments.

Annual leave

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long term employee benefits’. The 
annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at 
the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting 
period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Corporation does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period.

Long service leave

Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore recognised and measured at the present value of 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(q) Provisions (continued)
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting 
period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Corporation does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Corporation has an 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Sick leave

Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater than the entitlement that will accrue in the future.

Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely 
that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for this leave as it is taken.

Deferred leave

The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. 
The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as 
a current provision as employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.

Purchased leave

The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year. The 
provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees and is measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with 
legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined 
benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing 
members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The Corporation makes contributions to GESB or other fund 
providers on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation 
schemes extinguish the Corporation’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(q) Provisions (continued)
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the 
concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Corporation to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Corporation has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members 
who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Corporation to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.

Provisions – other

Employment on-costs

Employment on-costs, including payroll tax and workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the 
employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Corporation’s ‘Employee benefits 
expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.

(r) Superannuation expense
Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit and loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent 
contributions), WSS, the GESBS and other superannuation funds.

(s) Services received free of charge or for nominal cost
Services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Corporation would otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of those services that can 
be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received.

Services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(t) Comparative Figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.
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Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. The Corporation evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitment
The Corporation has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements and has determined that the lessors retain the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the items. 
Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.

Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Annual Leave and Long service leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Corporation’s annual leave and long service leave provisions include expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee 
retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the annual leave and long service leave provisions.

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Corporation has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013 that impacted on the Corporation.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement

This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and requires additional disclosures for assets and liabilities measured at fair value. 
There is no financial impact.

AASB 119 Employee Benefits

This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to the recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements.

The Corporation assessed employee leave patterns to determine whether annual leave is a short-term or other long-term employee benefit. The resultant 
discounting of annual leave liabilities that were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts is not material.

AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards

This Standard supersedes AASB 1048 (June 2012), enabling references to Interpretations in all other Standards to be updated by reissuing the service Standard. There 
is no financial impact.
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AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 
133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]

This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the result of issuing AASB 13 in 
September 2011. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14]

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in September 2011. The resultant 
discounting of annual leave liabilities that were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts is not material.

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132]

This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to include information that will enable users of an entity’s financial statements to evaluate the effect or 
potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with the entity’s recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the 
entity’s financial position. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2]

This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a consequence of the annual improvements process. There is no 
financial impact.

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8]

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015 (instead of 1 January 2013). Further amendments are also 
made to numerous consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 that will now apply from 1 January 2015. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-9 Amendment to AASB 1048 arising from the Withdrawal of Australian Int 1039

The withdrawal of Int 1039 Substantive Enactment of Major Tax Bills in Australia has no financial impact for the Corporation during the reporting period and at 
balance date. Measurement of tax assets and liabilities continues to be measured in accordance with enacted or substantively enacted tax law pursuant to AASB 
112.46-47.

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 119, 127, 128, 132, 
133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049, & 2011-7 and Int 12]

The Standard introduces a number of editorial alternations and amends the mandatory application date of Standards for not-for-profit entities accounting for 
interests in other entities. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments.

Part A of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from revisions to the Australian Accounting Conceptual Framework for periods 
ending on or after 20 December 2013. Other Parts of this Standard become operative in later periods. There is no financial impact for Part A of the Standard.

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard (continued)
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Corporation cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements. Consequently, the Corporation has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Corporation. 
Where applicable, the Corporation plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

Int 21 Levies

This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a government levy imposed should be recognised. There is no 
financial impact for the Corporation at reporting date.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard was amended to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards. The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special 
Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments. The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Corporation as it 
does not impact accounting for related bodies and the Corporation has no interests in other entities.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introduces new principles for determining the type of 
joint arrangement that exists, which are more aligned to the actual rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangement.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. There is no financial impact for the Corporation 
as the new standard continues to require the recognition of the Corporation’s share of assets and share of liabilities for the unincorporated 
joint operation.

1 Jan 2014
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, 
AASB 128 Investments in Associates and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements removing the consolidation 
requirements of the earlier standard whilst retaining accounting and disclosure requirements for the preparation of separate financial 
statements. Mandatory application was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a number of clarifications for the accounting treatments of 
changed ownership interest.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The adoption of the new Standard has no 
financial impact for the Corporation as it does not hold investments in associates and the accounting treatments for joint operations is 
consistent with current practice.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 1031 Materiality

This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing Australian guidance on materiality that is not available in IFRSs and refers to 
guidance on materiality in other Australian pronouncements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting

This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the general purpose financial statements of not-for-profit entities within the General 
Government Sector. The Corporation will be required to disclose additional budgetary information and explanations of major variances 
between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and Int 10 & 12]

[modified by AASB 2010-7]

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in 
December 2010.

AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 January 2015. The Corporation has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 
112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements 
and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. For not-for-profit entities it applies to annual reporting period beginning on or 
after 1 January 2014. The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria, including 
clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement systems may be considered 
equivalent to net settlement. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets.

This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting [AASB 139]

This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting in circumstances where a derivative, which has been designated as a hedging 
instrument, is novated from one counterparty to a central counterparty as a consequence of laws or regulations. The Corporation does not 
routinely enter into derivatives or hedges, therefore there is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2013-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities – Control and Structured 
Entities [AASB 10, 12 & 1049]

The amendments, issued in October 2013, provide significant guidance in determining whether a not-for-profit entity controls another entity 
when financial returns are not a key attribute of the investor’s relationship. The Standard has no financial impact in its own right, rather the 
impact results from the adoption of the amended AASB 10.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments.

This omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the deletion of references to AASB 1031 in other Standards for 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 (Part B), and, defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017 (Part C). The application date of 
AASB 9 was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of AASB 9, otherwise there is no financial impact for Part B.

1 Jan 2014

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 1 Jul 2014

1 Jan 2015

The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 1 Jan 2016

1 Jan 2018

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
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2014
$

2013
 $

Note 6. Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a)  5,483,259  5,005,283
Superannuation – defined contribution plans (b)  562,119  507,751

6,045,378  5,513,034
(a)  Includes fringe benefit tax, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component.

(b)  Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESBS and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs expenses such as payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance and other employee related expenses are included at note 12 ‘Other expenses’. 
Employment on-costs liability is included at note 27 ‘Provisions’.

2014
$

2013
 $

Note 7. Supplies and services
Premises – accommodation expenses  1,063,814  1,015,094
Media, advertising and promotions  120,358  218,054
Travel and accommodation  81,348  88,366
Professional services  1,255,691  1,213,370
Sponsorships  215,326  165,484
Other services  360,792  472,162
Consumable supplies  175,585  96,564
Royalties for Region Fund payments  151,716  230,446

3,424,630  3,499,540

Note 8. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation
Computing equipment  42,961  12,297
Total depreciation  42,961  12,297

Amortisation
Intangible assets – software  79,927  65,049
Development costs  0  1,266
Total amortisation  79,927  66,315
Total depreciation and amortisation  122,888  78,612
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2014
$

2013
 $

Note 9. Grants and subsidies
Small Business Centres – Operational grants  3,681,415  3,644,211
Drought Relief Program  0  10,500

3,681,415  3,654,711

Note 10. Trading profit
Sales  10,579  16,054
Cost of sales:

Opening inventory (9,507) (14,808)
Purchases  4,394 (2,641)

(5,113) (17,449)
Closing inventory  0  9,507

Cost of Goods Sold (5,113) (7,942)
Trading profit  5,466  8,112

Note 11. Net gain on disposal of non-current assets
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Computing equipment  0  28

Costs of disposal of non-current assets
Computing equipment  0  0
Net gain  0  28

Note 12. Other expenses
Employment on-costs (a)  288,532  267,235
Other employee related expenses (b)  85,812  52,591
Audit fees (c)  41,378  35,540
Write off – obselete inventory  1,023  6,841
Write off – bad debt  0  294

416,745  362,501

(a)  Includes payroll tax and workers’ compensation insurance. The on-costs liabilities associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liabilities are included at 
note 27 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

(b)  Includes staff recruitment, staff training and staff amenities.

(c)  See also note 30 ‘Remuneration of auditors’.
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2014
$

2013
 $

Note 13. User charges and fees
Workshop income  35,946  25,527
Skills and Business Migration visa application fees  209,150  139,500
Fees for mediation services  6,818  8,182
Fees for service agreements provided to the Commonwealth Government:
Department of Transport & Regional Services
–  Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery Arrangement  0  44,870

251,914  218,079

Note 14. Grants and contributions
Commonwealth grant (a)  0  288,000

0  288,000

(a)  The Corporation received Commonwealth funding totalling $822,000 over three years for the implementation of the Business Online Services (BOS) system. 
The BOS is part of the Council of Australian Governments reform agenda under the National Partnership Agreement to deliver a Seamless National Economy.

2014
$

2013
 $

Note 15. Interest Revenue
Bank interest income  54,244  110,051

54,244  110,051

Note 16. Other revenue
Sponsorships  11,640  909
Miscellaneous  44,862  29,906

56,502  30,815
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2014
$

2013
 $

Note 17. Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a)  11,645,000  11,908,000

Services received free of charge from other State Government agencies during the period:
Department of the Attorney General  15,110  8,949
Department of Finance  168,100  167,512

 183,210  176,461

Royalties for Regions Fund:
Regional Community Services Account (b)  0  450,000

11,828,210  12,534,461

(a)  Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). 
The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

(b)  This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

2014
$

2013
 $

Note 18. Cash and cash equivalents
Bank account  656,622  2,088,007
Cash investments – investment with Department of Treasury  500,000  500,000
Cash on hand  550  550

1,157,172  2,588,557

Note 19. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Funding from Department of Agriculture and Food for the Drought Relief program  36,158  36,158
Royalties for Regions Fund (a)  66,038  318,520

102,196  354,678

(a)  Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.
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2014
$

2013
 $

Note 20. Receivables
Trade and other debtors  22,220  57,463
Net GST recoverable  109,844  155,461
Accrued interest  10,831  21,255

142,895  234,179

The Corporation does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

Note 21. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
Current  60,000  60,000
Non-current  354,000  319,000

414,000  379,000

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of 
leave liability.

Note 22. Other current assets
Prepayments  121,234  97,069

121,234  97,069

Note 23. Furniture, plant and equipment
Computing equipment at cost  295,457  295,457
Accumulated depreciation  (216,979)  (174,018)

78,478  121,439

Reconciliations:

Computing Equipment
Carrying amount at start of period  121,439  29,458
Additions  0  104,278
Depreciation (42,961) (12,297)
Carrying amount at end of period  78,478  121,439
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2014
$

2013
 $

Note 24. Intangible assets
Computer software at cost  474,738  444,737
Accumulated amortisation (317,563) (237,635)

157,175  207,102

Development costs at cost  49,367  49,367
Accumulated amortisation (49,367) (49,367)

0  0
157,175  207,102

Reconciliations:

Computer software
Carrying amount at start of period  207,102  8,976
Additions  30,000  263,175
Amortisation expense (79,927) (65,049)
Carrying amount at end of period  157,175  207,102

Development costs
Carrying amount at start of period  0  1,266
Additions  0  0
Amortisation expense  0 (1,266)
Carrying amount at end of period  0  0
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Note 25. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to furniture, plant and equipment and intangible assets at 30 June 2014.

The Corporation held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. 
At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2014 have been written-off.

2014
$

2013
 $

Note 26. Payables
Trade payables 1,763 13,274
Accrued expenses  142,342  348,246
Accrued salaries  147,756  116,248

291,861  477,768

Note 27. Provisions
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a)  373,769  385,886
Purchased leave  16,401  4,631
Long service leave (b)  784,921  713,622
Deferred salary scheme (c)  39,882  27,856

1,214,973  1,131,995

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)  61,548  57,614

61,548  57,614
1,276,521  1,189,609

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b)  203,949  303,848

203,949  303,848
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2014
$

2013
 $

Note 27. Provisions (continued)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)  10,818  15,916

10,818  15,916
214,767  319,764

(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  307,233  321,168
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  66,536  64,718

373,769  385,886

(b)  Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  278,332  237,874
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  710,538  779,596

988,870  1,017,470

(c)  Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  39,882  0
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  0  27,856

39,882  27,856

(d)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including payroll tax and workers’ 
compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of 
the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 12 ‘Other expenses’.

Movements in other provisions
Movements in other provision during the period, other than employee benefits, is set out below:

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period  73,530  67,306
Additional provisions recognised  0  6,224
Payments (1,164)  0
Carrying amount at end of period  72,366  73,530
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2014
$

2013
 $

Note 28. Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Corporation on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest 
in the net assets of the Corporation.

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period  1,118,885  940,885

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation  60,000  178,000
Total contributions by owners  60,000  178,000

Balance at end of period  1,178,885  1,118,885

Accumulated (deficit)/surplus
Balance at start of period  885,505  969,447
Result for the period (1,674,389) (83,942)
Balance at end of period  (788,884)  885,505

Total equity at end of period  390,001  2,004,390

Note 29. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position 
as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents (note 18 ‘Cash and cash equivalents’)  1,157,172  2,588,557
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 19 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’)  102,196  354,678

1,259,368  2,943,235

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities
Net cost of services (13,502,599) (12,618,403)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8 ‘Depreciation and amortisation expense’)  122,888  78,612
Services received free of charge (note 17 ‘Income from State Government’)  183,210  176,461
Net (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 11 ‘Net gain on disposal of non-current assets’)  0 (28)
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2014
$

2013
 $

Note 29. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in receivables  91,284  26,768
(Increase) in other current assets (24,165) (46,867)
Decrease in inventories  9,507  5,301
(Decrease) in payables (185,907) (197,713)
(Decrease)/Increase in provisions (18,085)  131,844
Net cash used in operating activities (13,323,867) (12,444,025)

Note 30. Remuneration of auditors
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the
current financial year is as follows:
–  Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 26,700 26,000

26,700 26,000

The amounts disclosed above differ from the amounts recognised in note 12 ‘Other expenses’ and represents the totals of interim and final audit fees 
for the current year financial statement.

Note 31. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers
Remuneration of members of the accountable authority
The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for 
the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

    2014  2013
 $ 0  –  $10,000  6 6
 $10,001   –  $20,000  0 0
 $20,001   –  $30,000  1 1
 $30,001   –  $40,000  0 0

The total remuneration of members of the accountable authority  65,464  71,824

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Corporation in respect of members of the accountable authority.
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2014
$

2013
 $

Note 31. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers (continued)
Remuneration of senior officers

The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority, whose total fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

    2014  2013
 $20,001   –  $30,000  0  1
 $90,001   –  $100,000  0 1
 $120,001   –  $130,000  0 1
 $150,001   –  $160,000  1 0
 $160,001   –  $170,000  1 1
 $170,001   –  $180,000  1 1
 $260,001   –  $270,000  1 0
 $270,001   –  $280,000  0 1

The total remuneration of senior officers  756,002  858,847

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Corporation in respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the 
accountable authority.

Note 32. Affiliated Bodies
Small Business Centres

During the year $3,681,415 was paid out to Small Business Centres by way of operational grants. The Centres are separately incorporated entities located in city and country areas to 
assist small businesses to expand or develop new business ideas.

Note 33. Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery Arrangement
The Corporation previously had an agreement with the Commonwealth of Australia to provide business information, enterprise development, assistance and training to new and 
existing small to medium enterprises located on Christmas and Cocos (Keeling) Islands. The agreement expired on 31 December 2012.
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2014
$

2013
 $

Note 34. Commitments
The commitments below are exclusive of GST.

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments for motor vehicles and office accomodation are payable as follows:
Within 1 year  698,657  677,967
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  2,741,812  2,638,477
Later than 5 years  4,007,379  4,530,712

7,447,848  7,847,156

Other expenditure commitments
Other expenditure commitments, being provision of venue and meals for the 2014 Western Australian Regional Small Business Awards contracted 
for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:
Within 1 year  62,250  157,007

Note 35. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
No contingent liabilities and contingent assets exist as at 30 June 2014.

Note 36. Financial Instruments
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the Corporation are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables. The Corporation has limited exposure to 
financial risks. The Corporation’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Corporation’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Corporation.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets as shown in 
the table at note 36(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 20 ‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Corporation’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than 
government, the Corporation trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Corporation has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Corporation’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. 
At the end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.
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Note 36. Financial Instruments (continued)
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Corporation is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Corporation is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course 
of business.

The Corporation has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available 
to meet its commitments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Corporation’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The Corporation does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. The Corporation has no borrowings and its exposure to market risk for 
changes in interest rates relate primarily to cash and cash equivalents which are interest bearing as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 36(c) ‘Financial instrument 
disclosures’.

(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:

2014
$

2013
 $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  1,157,172  2,588,557
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  102,196  354,678
Receivables (i)  447,051  457,718

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  291,861  477,768

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 36. Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk

The following table discloses the Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired 
financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Corporation.

The Corporation does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.

Ageing analysis of financial assets
Past due but not impaired

Carrying 
amount 

$

Not past 
due and not 

impaired 
$

 Up to 1 month 
$

1-3 months 
$

3 months to 
1 year 

$

Impaired 
financial 

assets 
$

2014
Cash at bank  656,622  656,622  0  0  0 0
Cash investments  500,000  500,000  0  0  0 0
Cash on hand  550  550  0  0  0 0
Restricted cash at bank  102,196  102,196  0  0  0 0
Receivables (a)  33,051  31,551  0  0  1,500 0
Amount receivable for services  414,000  414,000  0  0  0 0

1,706,419  1,704,919  0  0  1,500  0

2013
Cash at bank  2,088,007  2,088,007  0  0  0 0
Cash investments  500,000  500,000  0  0  0 0
Cash on hand  550  550  0  0  0 0
Restricted cash at bank  354,678  354,678  0  0  0 0
Receivables (a)  78,718  78,601  0  117  0 0
Amount receivable for services  379,000  379,000  0  0  0 0

3,400,953  3,400,836  0  117  0  0

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 36. Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Financial instrument disclosures (continued)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

The following table details the Corporation’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes 
interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

 
Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate
%

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

 
Carrying 
amount

$

 
 Variable 

interest rate
$

 
 Non-interest 

bearing
$

 
Nominal 
amount

$

 
 Up to 

1 month
$

 
 3 months to 

1 year 
$

 
 1-5 years 

$

2014
Financial Assets
Cash at bank 2.82  656,622  656,622  0  656,622  656,622  0  0
Cash investments 2.82  500,000  500,000  0  500,000  500,000  0  0
Cash on hand  550 0  550  550  550  0 0
Restricted cash at bank 2.82  102,196  102,196  0  102,196  102,196  0  0
Receivables (a)  33,051  0  33,051  33,051  33,051  0  0
Amount receivable for services  414,000  0  414,000  414,000  0  60,000  354,000

 1,706,419  1,258,818  447,601  1,706,419  1,292,419  60,000  354,000

Financial Liabilities
Payables  291,861  0  291,861  291,861  291,861  0  0

 291,861  0  291,861  291,861  291,861  0  0
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Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate
%

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

 
Carrying 
amount

$

 
 Variable 

interest rate
$

 
 Non-interest 

bearing
$

 
Nominal 
amount

$

 
 Up to 

1 month
$

 
 3 months to 

1 year 
$

 
 1-5 years 

$

2013
Financial Assets
Cash at bank 3.40  2,088,007  2,088,007  0  2,088,007  2,088,007  0  0
Cash investments 3.40  500,000  500,000  0  500,000  500,000  0  0
Cash on hand  550 0  550  550  550  0 0
Restricted cash at bank 3.40  354,678  354,678  0  354,678  354,678  0  0
Receivables (a)  78,718  0  78,718  78,718  78,718  0  0
Amount receivable for services  379,000  0  379,000  379,000  0  60,000  319,000

 3,400,953  2,942,685  458,268  3,400,953  3,021,953  60,000  319,000

Financial Liabilities
Payables  477,768  0  477,768  477,768  477,768  0  0

 477,768  0  477,768  477,768  477,768  0  0

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Note 36. Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Financial instrument disclosures (continued)
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Note 36. Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Financial instrument disclosures (continued)
 Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the 
period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

-100 basis points +100 basis points
Carrying 
amount

$

Surplus
$

Equity
$

Surplus
$

Equity
$

2014
Financial Assets
Cash at bank  656,622 (6,566) (6,566)  6,566  6,566
Cash investments  500,000 (5,000) (5,000)  5,000  5,000
Restricted cash at bank  102,196 (1,022) (1,022)  1,022  1,022

(12,588) (12,588)  12,588  12,588

2013
Financial Assets
Cash at bank  2,088,007 (20,880) (20,880)  20,880  20,880
Cash investments  500,000 (5,000) (5,000)  5,000  5,000
Restricted cash at bank  354,678 (3,547) (3,547)  3,547  3,547

(29,427) (29,427)  29,427  29,427

Fair Values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable 
approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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Note 37. Explanatory Statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2014 and between the actual results for 2013 and 2014 are shown below. Significant variations are considered to be those 
greater than 5% and at least $15,000.

(a) Significant variances between estimated and actual result for 2014
2014

Estimate
$

2014
 Actual

 $
Expenses

Supplies and services  2,575,000  3,424,630
Additional expense in professional services in relation to the Small Business Centre Review, Aboriginal business development and the Industry 
Link program.

Depreciation and amortisation  80,000  122,888
The increase relates to purchase of new computer equipment and various computer software at the end of 2012/13 resulting in higher 
depreciation expense in 2013/14.

Communications expense  145,000  120,755
Decrease in mail and courier expense relates to an increase reliance on the use of electronic mail.

Income
User charges and fees  232,000  251,914
An increase in business migration application fees during the year has resulted in increased user fees and charges.

Sales  35,000  10,579
Reduced revenue from the sale of publications has resulted as a large amount of business information is freely accessible from the internet.

Interest revenue  30,000  54,244
This represents an increase in interest revenue due to a higher than expected cash balance at bank.

Other revenue  0  56,502
This relates mainly to a refund of payroll tax associated with an overdeclaration in 2011/12 and sponsorship income received for the Western 
Australia Regional Small Business Awards.

Income from State Government
Resources received free of charge  0  183,210
This represents notional value of services provided by Department of Finance and Department of Attorney General in relation to office 
accommodation and legal advice respectively.

Royalties for Regions (RfR) fund  1,000,000  0
The funds are allocated to a Buy Local program in regional Western Australia. Stage 2 of the program was not endorsed by the Department of 
Regional Development and hence funding was not drawn from RfR.
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Note 37. Explanatory Statement
(b) Significant variances between actual results for 2013 and 2014

2014
$

2013
 $

Expenses
Employee benefits expenses  6,045,378  5,513,034
The increase is due to appointments to a number of vacant positions and the use of contract labour to relieve staff on extended leave. In addition, 
there has been a 4.25% pay rise and an increase in superannuation contribution from 9% to 9.25% during the year.

Depreciation and amortisation expense  122,888  78,612
The increase relates to purchase of new computer equipment and various computer software at the end of 2012/13 resulting in higher depreciation 
expense in 2013/14.

Other expenses  416,745  362,501
Increase in payroll tax expense associated with increase in salaries and superannuation expenses. In addition, there has been an increase in staff 
training fees during the year.

Income
User charges and fees  251,914  218,079
An increase in business migration application fees during the year has resulted in increased user fees and charges.

Grants and contributions 0  288,000
This represents the finalisation in 2012/13 of funding from the Commonwealth (totalling $822,000 over three years) for the implementation of the 
Business Online Services (BOS) system.

Interest revenue  54,244  110,051
A decrease in interest revenue has resulted from lower interest rates and a lower cash at bank balance.

Other revenue  56,502  30,815
The increase relates mainly to a refund of payroll tax associated with an overdeclaration in 2011/12.

Income from State Government

Royalties for Regions (RfR) fund 0  450,000
The funds are allocated to a Buy Local program in regional Western Australia. Stage 2 of the program was not endorsed by the Department of 
Regional Development and hence funding was not drawn from RfR.

Note 38. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion 
of the directors of the Corporation, to affect significantly the operations of the Corporation, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Corporation, in future years.
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Other legal requirements

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan outcomes
The SBDC is committed to creating a community 
which is accessible and inclusive to help to minimise 
the impacts of disability. The agency’s current 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) spans the 
period 2012-2016.

Outcome 1: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the services 
of, and any events organised by, the SBDC.
• Incorporate DAIP strategies into the SBDC’s 

business and strategic planning. This has been 
raised for discussion at Executive meetings as 
required.

Outcome 2: People with disabilities have the 
same opportunities as other people to access the 
buildings and other facilities of the SBDC.
• Ensure the SBDC’s facilities are located to 

maximise ease of access and to promote 
inclusion within the community.

• Review emergency evacuation procedures for 
the building to ensure people with disabilities are 
accounted for.

Outcome 3: People with disabilities receive the same 
level of information from the SBDC in a format that 
will enable them to access information as readily as 
other people.
• Improve community awareness that the SBDC’s 

information is available in alternative formats 
upon request.

• Ensure all staff are aware information can be 
provided in alternative formats.

• Continue to ensure that updates to the SBDC’s 
website meets the needs of people with 
disabilities by complying with W3C (World Wide 
Web Consortium) Guidelines and incorporating 
new techniques when they become available.

• Review and update the SBDC’s Language Services 
policy to include the provision of Auslan. Ensure 
staff are aware of the process of engaging an 
Auslan interpreter if required.

Outcome 4: People with disabilities receive the 
same level and quality of service from SBDC staff as 
other people.
• Conduct regular disability awareness training for 

staff across the agency and specialised training 
for key frontline staff, including business advisers 
and those in the business information centre.

• Provide a link to the Disability Services 
Commission’s website and relevant resources, 
including access checklists, guidelines for 
accessible formats and other information 
available on the extranet.

• Ensure the SBDC’s induction for new staff 
includes information regarding disability and 
access issues, and the Access Awareness video 
that identifies common barriers.

• Ensure all staff have the knowledge and skills 
to provide quality services for people with 
disabilities, their families and carers.

Outcome 5: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to make complaints 
to the SBDC.
• Review existing complaint mechanisms to ensure 

they meet the needs of people with disabilities.
• Provide information and guidance to staff on the 

appropriate application in handling complaints 
from people with disabilities.

• Ensure the SBDC’s complaints procedures are 
made available in flexible and accessible formats.

Outcome 6: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to participate in any 
public consultation by the SBDC.
• Increase the community’s knowledge of the 

SBDC’s consultation processes and opportunities 
and develop proactive initiatives to encourage 
feedback.

• Ensure consultation documents are available in 
alternative formats on request.

Outcome 7: People with disabilities have the 
same opportunities as other people to obtain and 
maintain employment with a public authority.

Note: The Disability Services Commission requires 
that ‘Outcome 7’ be included in agency DAIPs by 
1 July 2015. The SBDC will amend the 2012-2016 DAIP 
to include ‘Outcome 7’ in due course.
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Equal employment opportunity (EEO)
The SBDC seeks to maintain a workforce, in 
alignment with the Public Sector Commission’s 
publication Strategic Directions for the Public 
Sector Workforce 2009-2014, to enable the delivery 
of quality services to its clients. The following are 
priority outcome areas for the SBDC’s Workforce and 
Diversity Management Plan 2011-2014:
• attract a skilled workforce;
• retain valued employees;
• strengthen the workplace culture so that it is 

equitable, vibrant and positive;
• build the capacity of the SBDC’s workforce;
• provide strategic leadership and ensure we are 

customer driven; and
• ensure an efficient and flexible high-performing 

workforce.

Under each of these outcome areas, initiatives 
are included to achieve the following three high-
level outcomes relating to equal employment 
opportunities:
• The agency values EEO/diversity and the work 

environment is free from all forms of harassment.
• The workplace is free from employment practices 

that are biased or discriminate unlawfully against 
employees or potential employees.

• Employment programs and practices recognise 
and include strategies to achieve workforce 
diversity.

Plans are under way to review and update the SBDC’s 
Workforce and Diversity Management Plan for 2015 
and beyond.

Compliance with public sector standards and 
ethical codes
The SBDC has complied with section 31 of the Public 
Sector Management Act 1994 in the administration 
of the agency’s human resource management 
practices relating to public sector standards and 
codes of ethics and conduct.

During 2013-14, the SBDC received one breach claim 
against public sector standards and no reports of 
non-compliance with the WA Code of Ethics or the 
agency’s own Code of Conduct. The breach claim 
was lodged during the recruitment process for a 
position advertised in August 2013. The breach was 
forwarded to the Public Sector Commission for 
review and it was found the SBDC had not breached 
the standard, resulting in the matter being dismissed.

The SBDC monitors compliance with the standards 
through a number of measures and initiatives:
• quality feedback is provided to applicants as part 

of all recruitment processes;
• training is provided to panel members by 

accredited providers underpinned by the 
provision of recruitment guidelines specific to 
the SBDC;

• information about public sector standards are 
included on the SBDC’s website and covered at 
inductions;

• employees commencing and leaving the SBDC 
are surveyed on all aspects of their employment, 
including questions relating to staff behaving in 
accordance with the Code of Conduct; and

• all employees participate in accountable and 
ethical decision-making training by accredited 
training providers.

The SBDC’s Code of Conduct was reviewed during 
the year to ensure it was aligned to the Public 
Sector Commissioner’s Instruction: Code of Ethics 
and Codes of Conduct and Integrity Training. It 
was also updated to reflect the SBDC’s revised 
vision and values developed through the strategic 
planning process.

Record-keeping plan
The SBDC’s record-keeping plan was originally 
approved in April 2010. During 2013-14, a 
comprehensive review of the plan was undertaken 
and the resulting review report was submitted to 
the State Records Office in April 2014. The review 
was necessary after legislative changes resulted in 
the introduction of the Small Business Commissioner 
and Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) service, 
along with changes to the SBDC’s strategic focus. 
A revised plan is expected to be approved early in 
the 2014-15 financial year.

Monitoring the efficiency and effectiveness of 
record-keeping systems is ongoing and changes 
will continue to be made in some areas of record-
keeping practices. This will result in considerable 
benefits to the overall management of the 
agency’s records.
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During the year, the SBDC continued to maintain an 
effective record-keeping training program. All new 
staff and contractors received comprehensive 
training at induction, detailing policies and 
procedures, and their record-keeping responsibilities. 
Additional training and materials are available on 
request and can be tailored to meet specific needs. 
The effectiveness of record-keeping training is 
monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure it meets 
the needs of the SBDC and State Records Office.

Advertising expenditure
In accordance with Section 175ZE of the Electoral 
Act 1907, set out below are details of expenditure 
incurred during the 2013-14 in relation to:

Market research organisations: $112,002.71

Advantage Communications $19,466.71

Research Solutions $87,691.00

ACIL Allen $4,845.00

Advertising agencies: $36,769.51

Adcorp Marketing $2,206.66

Mitchell & Partners Australia $25,873.31

Carat $8,689.54

Polling organisation Nil

Direct mail organisations Nil

Total expenditure for 2013-14: $148,772.22

Legislation impacting on activity
In the performance of its functions, the SBDC complies with the following legislation:
• A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 

1999 (Cth)
• Auditor General Act 2006
• Business Names Act 1962
• Business Names (Commonwealth Powers) Act 2012
• Business Names Registration Act 2011 (Cth)
• Copyright Act 1968 (Cth)
• Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements 

Act 1985
• Corporations (Western Australia) Act 1990
• Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
• Criminal Code Act Compilation Act 1913
• Disability Services Act 1993
• Electoral Act 1907
• Electronic Transaction Act 2011
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984
• Evidence Act 1906
• Evidence Act 1995 (Cth)
• Financial Management Act 2006
• Freedom of Information Act 1992
• Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986 (Cth)
• Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth)
• Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth)
• Industrial Relations Act 1979

• Legal Deposit Act 2012
• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
• Pay-roll Tax Act 2002
• Pay-roll Tax Assessment Act 2002
• Privacy Act 1988 (Cth)
• Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
• Public Sector Management Act 1994
• Small Business Development Corporation Act 1983
• Spam Act 2003 (Cth)
• State Records Act 2000
• State Superannuation Act 2000
• State Supply Commission Act 1991
• State Trading Concerns Act 1916
• Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 

1992 (Cth)
• Taxation Administration Act 2003
• Treasurer’s Instructions 804 and 805
• Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management 

Act 1981

Cth = Commonwealth Acts
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Government policy requirements

Corruption prevention
The SBDC is committed to the highest level of 
integrity, ethics and equity. Corruption prevention 
forms part of the agency’s overall risk management 
strategy as an important element of internal control.

Staff and Board members are regularly briefed 
on a range of statutory and administrative 
requirements relating to ethical conduct, including 
the requirement to declare conflicts of interest. A 
comprehensive induction program, the inclusion of 
policies on the SBDC extranet and regular internal 
communications also seek to ensure staff are 
aware of and understand their responsibilities. In 
addition, the majority of staff undertook training in 
accountable and ethical decision-making during the 
reporting period.

Publications
The SBDC produced a wide range of publications, in 
hard copy and electronic format, including:
• Annual reports: each financial year, the annual 

report highlights the agency’s business and 
financial activities. Electronic (PDF) copies of 
previous reports can be downloaded from the 
SBDC website.

• Media releases: releases are sent to a range of 
media outlets and key stakeholders on topical 
issues relating to the small business sector. 
Releases can be viewed on the SBDC website 
under ‘Media Centre’.

• Promotional publications: outlining the 
SBDC’s services.

• Information leaflet and guides: providing advice 
and support for small business operators. They 
are available in hard copy or can be downloaded 
from the SBDC website.

• E-news: the SBDC produces a monthly 
e-newsletter, which provides relevant business 
and SBDC updates. It is available by free 
subscription. Subscription to the e-newsletter can 
be obtained by contacting the Communications 
and Marketing team.
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Significant issues impacting the agency during 2013-14 (as reported in the 2014-15 Budget Papers)

• The Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) service 
provides timely, practical guidance and assistance 
to small businesses in dispute with another 
business or government agency and, where 
appropriate, includes access to a government-
subsidised mediation service. During the year, the 
ADR service assisted more than 2,100 disputing 
parties, with around 15 per cent receiving 
intensive case management, it continues to 
achieve resolution rates of around 80 per cent.

• The SBDC advocates for a fair and productive 
environment for small business and continued 
to work with government at all levels to reduce 
unnecessary regulatory impacts and the 
cumulative burden of compliance. During the 
year, the agency collaborated with a number of 
other agencies, including the Departments of 
Commerce and Finance, Synergy and Western 
Power to improve regulatory regimes and 
streamline administrative processes.

• The Business Migration Program is a key initiative 
to attract investment to WA. Business migrants 
make a significant contribution to the economy 
by establishing or buying businesses, exporting 
products and services, and creating jobs. The 
SBDC provides State nominations for business 
migrants in a range of business and investment 
visa categories. The program is forecast to deliver 
more than $1 billion in new asset investment into 
WA over the forward estimates.

• The SBDC broadened its program of industry 
outreach during the year by partnering with 
other government agencies and industry bodies 
to provide essential management skills and 
advice to business operators. During 2013-14, 
business advice was provided to real estate 
agents, occupational therapists, lottery agents 
and apprentices in the building industry, among 
others, as part of its Industry Link program.

• The SBDC, by partnering with Royalties for 
Regions, broadened its support for small business 
in regional areas by assisting them in building 
their capacity to take advantage of market 
opportunities. The Regional Buy Local program 
focused on helping regional small businesses 
to identify and address gaps in their knowledge 
and skills, and facilitated opportunities to supply 
to major government and resource projects. 
In turn, this will help businesses become more 
competitive and resilient over the long term, 
which will enhance the ongoing viability of 
regional communities.

• The SBDC continues to provide significant 
practical support to the growth and 
development of Aboriginal businesses in WA. 
Central to this has been the establishment of 
collaborative relationships between government 
and industry in support of the Aboriginal 
business sector. The Aboriginal Business Directory 
WA – a joint initiative by the SBDC, Departments 

of Aboriginal Affairs and Training and Workforce 
Development, and the Chamber of Commerce 
and Industry WA – has more than 220 Aboriginal 
businesses registered. With support from private 
sector sponsorship, the directory is increasingly 
used within government and the corporate 
sector to procure products and services across a 
wide range of industries.

• The SBDC contributes to small business policy 
development, with an emphasis on sound 
research about the sector. Sector intelligence 
is collected through the annual State of Small 
Business project, which involves a commissioned 
survey of small businesses throughout WA. 
In addition to identifying the needs of small 
business owners, the annual survey enables 
the SBDC to profile the sector longitudinally 
and monitor trends over time. Feedback from 
small business operators is also used to input 
into broader government initiatives, such as the 
development of Regional Investment Blueprints 
by Regional Development Commissions.
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APPENDIX

Appendix
Stakeholder representation and collaboration

The SBDC has also formed a number of strategic 
alliances with other stakeholders in the development 
and delivery of services, support and programs to 
the State’s small business sector:
• Tourism WA, business-related award program;
• Curtin Centre for Entrepreneurship (C4E);
• Department of State Development, International 

Trade and Investment;
• Migration Institute of Australia (WA Branch);
• Western Australian Chinese Chamber 

of Commerce;
• Department of Immigration and 

Border Protection;
• Many Rivers Microfinance;
• WA Indigenous Tourism Operators Council;
• Department of Training and Workforce 

Development;
• Combined Small Business Alliance of Western 

Australia;
• Regulatory Gatekeeping Unit, Department of 

Finance; and
• Tourism Council of Western Australia.

The SBDC is a strong advocate for the WA small 
business sector across a broad range of State and 
Federal Government working groups collaborating 
on key small business issues. Such representation 
provides a coordinated policy response and ensures 
the interests of WA businesses are represented:
• Small Business Commissioners’ Group;
• Australian Competition and Consumer 

Commission’s Small Business Consultative 
Committee and Franchising Consultative 
Committee;

• Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western 
Australia (CCIWA) and its small business entity, the 
Small Enterprise Network (SEN);

• Regional Chambers of Commerce and 
Industry WA;

• Ignition program, Curtin Centre for 
Entrepreneurship (C4E);

• The Department of Environment Regulation’s 
Environmental Regulation Stakeholder 
Reference Group;

• Workplace Essentials SME Project Steering 
Committee; and

• Aboriginal Economic Development and 
Governance Sub-Committee.
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